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INTRODUCTION 

1. In an effort to maintain and extend its monopoly in the market for its biologic 

medication Humira (a/k/a adalimumab – a long-term treatment marketed by AbbVie Inc. that treats 

rheumatoid arthritis, chronic plaque psoriasis, Crohn’s disease, ankylosing spondylitis, psoriatic 

arthritis, polyarticular juvenile idiopathic arthritis, and non-infectious uveitis by relieving pain and 

reducing inflammation associated with autoimmune diseases) and the massive annual revenue the 

drug generates, AbbVie Inc. and AbbVie Biotechnology Ltd. (collectively, “AbbVie” or the 

“Company”) undertook a carefully crafted, ill-conceived and illegal course of action, including 

working in conjunction with the adalimumab biosimilar makers named as defendants herein, to 

suppress competition and raise prices to adalimumab purchasers.1  Defendants’ conduct served to 

maintain AbbVie’s stranglehold on the U.S. market for adalimumab, shut out would-be 

competitors whose entrance into the U.S. market would naturally cause prices for adalimumab to 

decline, and deny U.S. consumers the benefits of fair competition. 

2. According to the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”), “[b]iological 

products include a wide range of products such as vaccines, blood and blood components, 

allergenics, somatic cells, gene therapy, tissues, and recombinant therapeutic proteins.”2  In 

general, biologics are at the “forefront of biomedical research, and may be used to treat a variety 

of medical conditions for which no other treatments are available.”3  Biologics are genetically 

engineered proteins derived from human genes, typically administered by injection.  They are 

                                                 
1 AbbVie’s conspirator co-defendants include: Amgen Inc., Fresenius Kabi USA, LLC, Momenta 
Pharmaceuticals, Inc., Mylan Inc., Mylan Pharmaceuticals, Inc., Pfizer Inc., Samsung Bioepis Co., Ltd. and 
Sandoz, Inc. 

2 FDA, What are “Biologics” Questions and Answers, https://www.fda.gov/aboutfda/centersoffices
/officeofmedicalproductsandtobacco/cber/ucm133077.htm (last visited Apr. 8, 2019). 

3 Id.  
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manufactured in a living system, such as a microorganism or plant or animal cells, by combining 

genetic material from multiple sources. 

3. A “blockbuster” drug is considered one that generates at least $1 billion in annual 

sales.  Humira is unquestionably a blockbuster drug.  Indeed, it is so profitable for AbbVie – which 

relies on Humira for roughly half of its revenue – that it is routinely called a “mega-blockbuster.”4  

In 2018 alone, Humira sales exceeded $13 billion in the United States, with global sales of almost 

$20 billion.  Since Humira became available in 2003, U.S. and global sales have exceeded $74 

billion and $132 billion, respectively.  Establishing and maximizing its lucrative monopoly in the 

adalimumab market and preserving this massive revenue were the driving forces behind AbbVie’s 

scheme. 

4. AbbVie’s initial unlawful undertaking, executed over the course of almost two 

decades, involved crafting what is called a “patent thicket,” in which the Company sought 

hundreds of patents surrounding the biologic – without regard to whether they were valid or 

supportable – in order to protect against competitor encroachment.  Such a thicket disincentivizes 

competitors from seeking FDA approval and from litigating patent lawsuits initiated by AbbVie 

to judgment through the courts. 

5. AbbVie filed nearly 250 patent applications surrounding Humira’s uses, 

manufacturing processes, ingredients, formulations, and processes, many of which were non-

inventive, and an additional number of which were overlapping and/or related to processes that 

AbbVie did not use but a Humira competitor might.  Of these applications, AbbVie secured over 

                                                 
4 See, e.g., Andrew Dunn, Senate passes bill for FTC scrutiny of biosimilar “pay-for-delay” deals, 
BIOPHARMADIVE (Sept. 18, 2018) (“AbbVie’s mega-blockbuster Humira (adalimumab) would be the 
highest-profile potential test of stepped-up scrutiny on settlement deals [with] . . . Amgen, Samsung 
Bioepis and Mylan to push off entry of a biosimilar version of the drug to 2023 in the U.S.”), https://www.
biopharmadive.com/news/senate-passes-bill-for-ftc-scrutiny-of-biosimilar-pay-for-delay-deals/532616/. 
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100 U.S. patents with an astounding 50 or more Humira patents being granted in 2015 and 2016 

immediately before expiration of its original patent obtained in 2002.  Moreover, as discussed 

herein, this large number of patents and applications was part of a scheme aimed not at obtaining 

valid patent protection but at creating and maintaining an illegal monopoly. 

6. AbbVie used this patent thicket to extend its period of exclusivity in the U.S. market 

for adalimumab – an effort that, to date, has been successful.  As other pharmaceutical 

manufacturers attempted to bring their Humira biosimilars to the U.S. market, AbbVie abused the 

FDA’s system for approval of biosimilars by repeatedly taking frivolous positions that could not 

have been maintained in good faith in order to create leverage it could use in negotiations with 

those biosimilar manufacturers.  AbbVie used that leverage not only as payment in exchange for 

biosimilar manufacturers’ agreements not to enter the U.S. market until 2023, but also to coerce 

its competitors into a market division scheme under which biosimilar manufacturers would enter 

the European market in a synchronized fashion based upon the timing and sequence of their 

settlements with AbbVie.  This enabled AbbVie not only to extract licensing royalties from these 

competitors, but also to continue to receive supracompetitive prices for Humira in the U.S. market 

due to its monopoly.   

7. Thus, AbbVie, working in concert with its conspirator co-defendants, used its 

creation and maintenance of a monopoly in the adalimumab market to effectively block 

competition for Humira.  Meanwhile plaintiff and members of the Classes (as defined below) bear 

the burden of paying supracompetitive prices and are deprived of the lower prices and other 

benefits of a competitive marketplace. 

PARTIES 

8. Plaintiff Sheet Metal Workers’ Local Union No. 28 Welfare Fund (the “Plan”) is 

an employee welfare benefit plan that represents thousands of employees and their dependents on 
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whose behalf health and other benefits are provided on a self-funded and insured basis.  The Plan 

is headquartered in Mineola, New York.  The Plan and Plan participants were dispensed Humira 

and suffered injury thereby by paying some or all of the purchase price thereof, which was more 

than such purchase price would have been had defendants not engaged in the unlawful conduct 

alleged in this complaint. 

9. Defendant AbbVie Inc. is a corporation organized and existing under the laws of 

Delaware with its corporate headquarters located at 1 North Waukegan Road, North Chicago, 

Illinois 60064.  AbbVie Inc. is a biopharmaceutical company that develops, distributes and sells 

pharmaceutical and biologic drugs.  AbbVie Inc. holds FDA Biologic License Application 

(“BLA”) No. 125057 for Humira (adalimumab). 

10. Defendant AbbVie Biotechnology Ltd. is a limited company incorporated in and 

under the laws of Bermuda.  AbbVie Biotechnology Ltd. maintains its corporate headquarters at 2 

Church Street, Hamilton, HM 11, Bermuda.  AbbVie Biotechnology Ltd. is a subsidiary of AbbVie 

Inc.  AbbVie Inc. and AbbVie Biotechnology Ltd. are collectively referred to herein as “AbbVie.” 

11. Defendant Amgen Inc. (“Amgen”) is a corporation organized and existing under 

the laws of Delaware with its corporate headquarters located at One Amgen Center Drive, 

Thousand Oaks, California 91320.  Amgen is a biotechnology company that develops, distributes 

and sells pharmaceutical and biologic drugs. 

12. Defendant Fresenius Kabi USA, LLC (“Fresenius”) is a limited liability company 

organized and existing under the laws of Delaware with its headquarters located at Three Corporate 

Drive, Lake Zurich, Illinois 60047.  Fresenius develops, manufactures, and delivers 

pharmaceuticals and medical devices. 

13. Defendant Momenta Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (“Momenta”) is a corporation organized 

and existing under the laws of Delaware with its corporate headquarters located at 301 Binney 
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Street, Cambridge, Massachusetts 02142.  Momenta is a biotechnology company that develops, 

manufactures and delivers biologic therapies. 

14. Defendant Mylan Inc. is a corporation organized and existing under the laws of 

Pennsylvania with its corporate headquarters located at 1000 Mylan Boulevard, Canonsburg, 

Pennsylvania 15317.  Mylan Inc. develops, manufactures, markets and distributes generic, branded 

generic, and specialty pharmaceuticals. 

15. Defendant Mylan Pharmaceuticals, Inc. is a corporation organized and existing 

under the laws of West Virginia with its corporate headquarters located at 781 Chestnut Ridge 

Road, Morgantown, West Virginia.  Mylan Pharmaceuticals, Inc., which is a subsidiary of Mylan 

Inc., researches, develops, manufactures, markets, and distributes generics and specialty 

pharmaceutical products.  Together, Mylan Inc. and Mylan Pharmaceuticals, Inc. are 

wholly owned subsidiaries of Dutch pharmaceutical company Mylan N.V., and are collectively 

referred to herein as “Mylan.” 

16. Defendant Pfizer Inc. (“Pfizer) is a corporation organized and existing under the 

laws of Delaware with its corporate headquarters located at 235 East 42nd Street, New York, New 

York 10017.  Pfizer is a pharmaceutical company that develops, distributes and sells 

pharmaceutical and biologic drugs. 

17. Defendant Samsung Bioepis Co., Ltd. (“Samsung Bioepis”) is a corporation 

organized and existing under the laws of the Republic of Korea with its corporate headquarters 

located at 107, Cheomdan-daero, Yeonsu-gu, Incheon, Republic of Korea.  Samsung Bioepis is a 

biopharmaceutical company involved in the development and distribution of biologic drugs. 

18. Defendant Sandoz, Inc. (“Sandoz”) is a corporation organized and existing under 

the laws of Colorado with its corporate headquarters located at 100 College Road West, Princeton, 
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New Jersey 08540.  Sandoz is a pharmaceutical company that develops, distributes and sells 

pharmaceutical and biologic drugs. 

19. All of the parties listed above in ¶¶9-18 are collectively referred to herein as 

“Defendants.” 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

20. This Court has original federal question jurisdiction over the Sherman Antitrust Act 

claim asserted herein, pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§1331 and 1337, and §§4 and 16 of the Clayton Act, 

15 U.S.C. §§15 and 26.  This Court also has jurisdiction over this case pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 

§1332(d) and the Class Action Fairness Act of 2005 (“CAFA”) (28 U.S.C. §1711, et seq.), which 

vests original jurisdiction in the district courts of the United States for any multi-state class action 

where the aggregate amount in controversy exceeds $5 million and where the citizenship of any 

member of the class of plaintiffs is different from that of any defendant.  The $5 million amount 

in controversy and diverse citizenship requirements of CAFA are satisfied in this case. 

21. Venue is proper in this District pursuant to §12 of the Clayton Act (15 U.S.C. §22), 

and 28 U.S.C. §1391(b)-(d), because a substantial part of the events giving rise to plaintiff’s claims 

occurred in this District, a substantial portion of the affected interstate trade and commerce 

discussed below has been carried out in this District, and certain of the Defendants reside in, are 

licensed to do business in, are doing business in, had agents in, or are found or transact business 

in, this District. 

22. This Court has personal jurisdiction over of the Defendants because, inter alia, each 

of the Defendants:  (a) transacted business throughout the United States, including in this District; 

(b) marketed and sold adalimumab throughout the United States, including in this District; (c) had 

substantial contacts with the United States, including in this District; and/or (d) engaged in an 
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illegal conspiracy that was directed at and had the intended effect of causing injury to persons 

residing in, located in, or doing business throughout the United States, including in this District. 

23. The activities of Defendants were within the flow of, were intended to, and did 

have, a substantial effect on interstate commerce of the United States. Defendants’ products and 

services are sold in the flow of interstate commerce.  The creation, marketing, sale and distribution 

of Humira and the actions complained of in this complaint occur in and substantially affect 

interstate commerce. 

SUBSTANTIVE ALLEGATIONS 

Background 

24. The Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act (“PPAC Act”), signed into law by 

President Obama on March 23, 2010, amends the Public Health Service Act (“PHS Act”) to create 

an abbreviated approval pathway for biological products that are demonstrated to be “highly 

similar” (biosimilar) to or “interchangeable” with an FDA-approved biological product.  These 

new statutory provisions also may be referred to as the Biologics Price Competition and Innovation 

Act of 2009 (“BPCIA”). 

25. The goal of the BPCIA is similar, in concept, to that of the Drug Price Competition 

and Patent Term Restoration Act of 1984 (a/k/a the “Hatch-Waxman Act”), which created 

abbreviated pathways for the approval of generic drug products under Federal Food, Drug, and 

Cosmetic Act (“FFD&C Act”).  The BPCIA aligns with the FDA’s longstanding policy of 

permitting appropriate reliance on what is already known about a drug, thereby saving time and 

resources and avoiding unnecessary duplication of human or animal testing. 

26. Under the BPCIA, a sponsor may seek approval of a “biosimilar” product under 

new §351(k) of the PHS Act.  See 42 U.S.C. §262(k).  A biological product may be demonstrated 

to be “biosimilar” if data show that the product is “highly similar” to the reference product, 
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notwithstanding minor differences in clinically inactive components, and that there are no 

clinically meaningful differences between the biological product and the reference product in 

terms of safety, purity and potency. 

27. In order to meet the higher standard of interchangeability, a sponsor must 

demonstrate that the biosimilar product can be expected to produce the same clinical result as the 

reference product in any given patient and, for a biological product that is administered more than 

once, that the risk of alternating or switching between use of the biosimilar product and the 

reference product is not greater than the risk of maintaining the patient on the reference product.  

Interchangeable products may be substituted for the reference product by a pharmacist without the 

intervention of the prescribing healthcare provider. 

28. On February 4, 2014, Federal Trade Commission (“FTC”) Commissioner and 

Chairwoman at the time Edith Ramirez noted the importance of free competition in the market for 

biologics and interchangeable biosimilars, how competition will bring down prices and expand 

access for sick Americans, and how Congress intended to facilitate this free competition once 

patent protection expires: 

As all of you know, biologic medicines are among the most important 
pharmaceutical products available today, providing lifesaving therapies for difficult 
to treat diseases such as cancer, diabetes, and multiple sclerosis.  There’re also 
among the most expensive, with costs often exceeding tens of thousands of dollars 
per year.  Others have a price that is substantially higher, and these costs may 
prevent some patients from accessing potentially lifesaving therapies. 

Introducing competition into the biologics marketplace represents one of 
the most promising ways to reduce prices and expand access to these critical 
drugs.  Most consumers are familiar with the cost savings associated with the 
introduction of generic drugs to compete with traditional brand name drugs.  The 
abbreviated FDA approval process, created by the Hatch-Waxman Act to introduce 
safe and effective generics, has spurred price competition and expanded consumer 
access to many widely prescribed small molecule drugs. 

Recognizing the benefits of the Hatch-Waxman process, in 2010, Congress 
passed the Biologic Price Competition and Innovation Act, which created a 
statutory framework for follow-on biologic competition.  This law required the 
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FDA to develop an abbreviated approval pathway to promote competition for 
follow-on biologics, including both biosimilars and interchangeable biosimilars.  
While the FTC’s 2009 Follow-On Biologics report found that a number of factors 
may result in different competitive dynamics and markets for follow-on biologics, 
it concluded that their introduction is likely to resulting in lower prices.5 

Adalimumab Biosimilars 

29. As discussed herein, other pharmaceutical manufacturers have developed 

adalimumab biosimilars ostensibly to compete with Humira.  Amgen received FDA approval for 

Amjevita (adalimumab-atto) on September 23, 2016.6  Amjevita was approved for indications 

including: Rheumatoid Arthritis; Juvenile Idiopathic Arthritis; Psoriatic Arthritis; Ankylosing 

Spondylitis; Adult Crohn’s Disease; Ulcerative Colitis; and Plaque Psoriasis.7  Boehringer 

Ingelheim received FDA approval for Cyltezo (adalimumab-adbm) on August 25, 2017.8  Cyltezo 

was approved for indications including: Rheumatoid Arthritis; Juvenile Idiopathic Arthritis; 

Psoriatic Arthritis; Ankylosing Spondylitis; Adult Crohn’s Disease; Ulcerative Colitis; and Plaque 

Psoriasis.9  Sandoz also received FDA approval for Hyrimoz (adalimumab-adaz) on October 30, 

2018.10  Hyrimoz, likewise, was approved for indications including: Rheumatoid Arthritis; 

                                                 
5 Transcript of FTC “Follow-On Biologics Workshop” at 2 (Feb. 4, 2014), https://www.ftc.gov/system/
files/documents/videos/follow-biologics-workshop-impact-recent-legislative-regulatory-naming-
proposals-competition-part-1/ftc_follow-on_biologics_-_transcript_segment_1.pdf. 

6 FDA Approval Package, Amjevita (adalimumab-atto), https://www.accessdata.fda.gov/drugsatfda
_docs/nda/2016/761024Orig1s000Approv.pdf (last visited Apr. 8, 2019). 

7 Id.  

8 FDA Approval Letter, Cyltezo (adalimumab-adbm), https://www.accessdata.fda.gov/drugsatfda_docs/
appletter/2017/761058Orig1s000ltr.pdf (last visited Apr. 8, 2019). 

9 Id.  

10 FDA Approval Letter, Hyrimoz (adalimumab-adaz), https://www.accessdata.fda.gov/drugsatfda_docs/
appletter/2018/761071Orig1s000ltredt.pdf (last visited Apr. 8, 2019). 

Case: 1:19-cv-02674 Document #: 1 Filed: 04/19/19 Page 10 of 109 PageID #:10



 

- 10 - 

Juvenile Idiopathic Arthritis; Psoriatic Arthritis; Ankylosing Spondylitis; Adult Crohn’s Disease; 

Ulcerative Colitis; and Plaque Psoriasis.11 

30. In addition, Samsung Bioepis filed with the FDA in September 2018 a BLA for its 

own biosimilar candidate referencing Humira called Imraldi.12  Momenta reports that it, too, had 

developed a biosimilar to Humira: 

Our lead biosimilar candidate, M923 is a proposed HUMIRA biosimilar 
candidate.  HUMIRA, the largest selling therapeutic on the market today, is a 
significant intervention for patients with autoimmune/inflammatory diseases. 
Adalimumab is used to treat many such conditions including rheumatoid arthritis, 
juvenile idiopathic arthritis, psoriatic arthritis, ankylosing spondylitis, Crohn’s 
disease, ulcerative colitis and plaque psoriasis.13 

31. Momenta began reporting a series of successful clinical trials beginning in the fall 

of 2015.  By November 2018, Momenta announced that it had “reached a global settlement with 

AbbVie on the HUMIRA patent estate.”14  As discussed herein, however, the adalimumab 

biosimilars are not available to the U.S. market due to Defendants’ conspiracy and anticompetitive 

conduct. 

Adalimumab and Humira: From Development to AbbVie 

32. In the pharmaceutical industry, a “blockbuster” drug is a drug that generates annual 

sales of at least $1 billion for the pharmaceutical company that produces it.  Humira is the top-

                                                 
11 Id.   

12 Press Release, Samsung Bioepis, Samsung Bioepis’ Biologics License Application for SB5 Adalimumab 
Biosimilar Candidate Accepted for Review by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (Sept. 26, 2018). 

13 Momenta, Biosimilar Development Programs, http://www.momentapharma.com/pipeline/
development-programs.php (last visited Apr. 8, 2019). 

14 Id.   
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selling drug in the world and, unchecked in its current course, industry commentators believe that 

by 2020 Humira may become the “biggest blockbuster drug ever.”15 

33. Humira is the brand name version of adalimumab.  The “mab” suffix in 

adalimumab means it is a “monoclonal antibody,” which is a class of biologic drugs designed to 

bind to a single substance.  The antibodies in adalimumab are engineered to bind to Tumor 

Necrosis Factor-alpha (TNF-α), a protein that triggers inflammation in the body that, uncontrolled, 

damages healthy tissues.  To render the TNF-α protein inert, adalimumab binds to it, reducing 

inflammation and other disease symptoms.  After acquiring Knoll Pharmaceuticals (and 

adalimumab) from BASF in 2000, as discussed below, Abbott Laboratories (“Abbott”) named it 

“Humira,” which is a combination of the first letters in “human monoclonal antibody in 

rheumatoid arthritis.”  Abbott initially targeted the biologic for the treatment of the inflammation 

attendant to rheumatoid arthritis. 

34. Administered subcutaneously (i.e., under the skin), typically by injection in the 

abdomen or front thigh, Humira is a long-term treatment that is available only by prescription.  It 

is used to treat active rheumatoid arthritis and ankylosing spondylitis symptoms, as well as the 

prevention of the progression these two diseases.16  In addition, it is used in the treatment of 

juvenile idiopathic arthritis; psoriatic arthritis (a type of arthritis, usually occurring with a skin 

condition called psoriasis, that causes pain and swelling in the joints along with patches of scaly 

skin on some areas of the body); active Crohn’s disease; moderate to severe ulcerative colitis; 

chronic plaque psoriasis; moderate to severe hidradenitis suppurativa (a chronic skin disease that 

                                                 
15 James Chen, Blockbuster Drug, Investopedia (Jan. 23, 2018), https://www.investopedia.com/terms/b/
blockbuster-drug.asp. 

16 Mayo Clinic, Drugs and Supplements: Adalimumab (Subcutaneous Route), https://www.mayoclinic.
org/drugs-supplements/adalimumab-subcutaneous-route/description/drg-20066817 (last visited Apr. 8, 
2019). 
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has small, painful lumps under the skin in adults and children 12 years of age and older); and non-

infectious intermediate, posterior and panuveitis in adults and children 2 years of age and older.17 

35. Adalimumab was originally developed in partnership by BASF AG and Cambridge 

Antibody Technology in or around the 1990s.  On February 9, 1996, BASF AG filed as assignee 

a patent application for adalimumab with the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office (or “PTO”).  U.S. 

Patent No. 6,090,382 (the “‘382 Patent”) was later issued in 2000.  The patenting of adalimumab 

granted the patent holder exclusive rights to create, use, manufacture and sell the biologic and 

formulations that contain adalimumab until December 31, 2016. 

36. On March 2, 2001, Abbott acquired BASF AG’s pharmaceutical business.  This 

acquisition included all rights under the ‘382 Patent to adalimumab.  Abbott sought FDA approval 

through BLA No. 125057, and was granted such approval on December 31, 2002, for adalimumab 

for “reducing signs and symptoms and inhibiting the progression of structural damage in adult 

patients with moderately to severely active rheumatoid arthritis who have had an inadequate 

response to one or more disease-modifying anti-rheumatic drugs (DMARDs).”18  In the years since 

its original FDA approval for rheumatoid arthritis, adalimumab has been approved by the FDA for 

treatment of a number of additional autoimmune conditions as well, including, as  discussed above, 

juvenile idiopathic arthritis; psoriatic arthritis; ankylosing spondylitis; adult and pediatric Crohn’s 

disease; ulcerative colitis; plaque psoriasis; hidradenitis suppurativa; and uveitis. 

                                                 
17 Id.; see also Important Safety Information About Humira® (adalimumab), HUMIRA Injection package 

insert, https://www.humira.com/ (last visited Apr. 8, 2019). 

18 FDA Approval Letter, Adalimumab (Dec. 31, 2002), https://www.accessdata.fda.gov/drugsatfda_docs
/nda/2002/BLA_125057_S000_HUMIRA_APPROV.PDF (last visited Apr. 8, 2019). 

Case: 1:19-cv-02674 Document #: 1 Filed: 04/19/19 Page 13 of 109 PageID #:13



 

- 13 - 

37. Seeing its major pharmaceuticals business, AbbVie, as a growth company, in 

December 2012, Abbott spun off AbbVie.  On January 2, 2013, AbbVie was officially listed on 

the New York Stock Exchange. 

38. Since its launch in 2003, Humira quickly began its trajectory to blockbuster status, 

seeing ever increasing sales revenue due both to increasing sales volume, as it became approved 

for additional disease treatments, and its extremely high price, costing patients almost $50,000 per 

year.  While sales data is not available for U.S. sales for 2003-2005, the following chart graphically 

illustrates the massive revenue Humira has generated:  

Humira Sales 

(2003-2018) 

 

The Anticompetitive Humira Patent Thicket 

39. Designed to forestall, if not eliminate, U.S. market biosimilar competition for 

adalimumab well beyond the timeframe within which its patent allowed, AbbVie has undertaken 

an illegal and anticompetitive course of action, employing a massive “patent thicket” strategy to 

protect against encroachment on the Humira market and the attendant resulting decrease in revenue 
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such market share loss would occasion.  Called “[t]hick cobwebs of patents” by U.S. Senator Ron 

Wyden of Oregon,19 simply stated, a “patent thicket” is achieved by obtaining – without regard to 

merit – a large number of patents, sometimes in the hundreds of patents, in order to disincentivize 

would-be competitors from entering the market. 

40. The strategy is straightforward – surround Humira with such a significant volume 

of patents that the threat of infringement claims should a competitor seek market entry will deter 

companies making adalimumab biosimilars from seeking FDA approval or from litigating the 

patents to judgment through the courts.  Indeed, even in those cases where competitors might seek 

entry through these means, under the worst of circumstances from AbbVie’s perspective (i.e., 

losing Humira’s legal protection), competition could be forestalled for years through protracted 

litigation, resulting in AbbVie’s continuing Humira monopoly and the substantial revenue stream 

it generated for a significant timeframe beyond that to which AbbVie may have been entitled. 

41. In constructing its Humira patent thicket, AbbVie filed nearly 250 patent 

applications surrounding Humira’s uses, manufacturing processes, ingredients, formulations, and 

processes, many of which were non-inventive, and an additional number of which were 

overlapping and/or related to processes that AbbVie did not use but a Humira competitor might.  

In short, AbbVie’s goal was to obtain patents covering the development or manufacture of all 

drugs that were similar to Humira or could encroach in any way on the Humira market.  Of these 

applications, AbbVie secured over 100 U.S. patents with an astounding 50 or more Humira patents 

being granted in 2015 and 2016 immediately before expiration of the original patent. 

                                                 
19 Ranking Member’s News, Wyden Statement at Finance Committee Hearing on Drug Prices with 

Pharma CEOs, U.S. Senate Committee on Finance (Feb. 26, 2019), https://www.finance.senate.gov/
ranking-members-news/wyden-statement-at-finance-committee-hearing-on-drug-prices-with-pharma-
ceos. 
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42. AbbVie’s “patent thicket” scheme was specifically undertaken and intended to 

block Humira biosimilar competition in the U.S. market and ensure the drug’s massive – ever 

increasing – revenue stream for AbbVie. 

43. According to reports and commentary on file with the FTC, as of mid-2018, 

AbbVie had filed 247 patent applications surrounding Humira and been granted 132 patents.20  

Importantly, as noted in the report, in compiling the number of Humira-related patents: 

The searches conducted may not have captured all patents relating to the drugs in 
this study.  Only published patents can be searched and there could be additional 
applications that may surface at a later date.  Also, patents relating to a drug may 
not have been identified in our searches.  Drugmakers and their lawyers will often 
use terms in a patent document to obfuscate the claimed invention in relation to a 
drug in order to avoid detection by competitors.  Therefore, the overall number of 
patent applications and granted patents per drug is likely undercounted in this 
report.21 

44. In accomplishing its anticompetitive goals, AbbVie filed large numbers of 

continuation applications for the Humira-related patent applications, among others, that Abbott 

had initiated since its acquisition of adalimumab from BASF AG.  In doing so, AbbVie frequently 

timed the filing of such continuation applications to just prior to previously submitted patents’ 

issuance, allowing AbbVie to maintain the priority date of the original applications while seeking 

additional overlapping patents.  A continuation patent application is similar to the original patent 

application but contains minor variations that continue the examination of the application, enabling 

the patent applicant to pursue a broader (or different) scope of patent protection while the original 

patent application issues.  The claims in a continuation patent application have the priority date of 

the parent patent application, and any continuation must be filed before the issuance or 

                                                 
20 See Initiatives for Medicines, Access & Knowledge (I-MAK), Overpatented, Overpriced: How 

Excessive Pharmaceutical Patenting is Extending Monopolies and Driving up Drug Prices at 7 
(2018), https://www.ftc.gov/system/files/documents/public_comments/2018/08/ftc-2018-0055-d-0036-
155042.pdf (last visited Apr. 8, 2019). 

21 Id. at 12 n.15. 
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abandonment of the parent application.  Continuation applications have the effect of increasing the 

scope of the original patent protection.  Continuation applications also have the effect of 

maintaining an ambiguous outer limit to the patent claims, preventing competitors from reliably 

knowing how to avoid infringing the claims that will issue when the patent is allowed. 

45. A review of the following series of Humira-related original and continuation patent 

applications serves as an example of AbbVie’s misconduct.  Abbott filed U.S. Patent Application 

No. 10/222,140 (the “‘140 Application”) on August 16, 2002.  The ‘140 Application was later 

abandoned in 2005 and never resulted in a patent being issued.  But, the ‘140 Application’s 2002 

priority date was crucial for AbbVie’s patent thicket scheme.  Because Abbott commenced Humira 

sales in 2003, under 35 U.S.C. §102, these sales would have the effect of invalidating any 

formulation patent with a priority date more than one year later. 

46. Prior to abandoning the ‘140 Application, Abbott filed international continuation 

patent application PCT/IB2003/004502 on August 15, 2003.  PCT/IB2003/004502 is now expired. 

But before it expired, Abbott filed U.S. National Stage Application under 35 U.S.C. §371, U.S. 

Patent Application No. 10/525,292 (the “‘292 Application”), on October 27, 2005, which was a 

continuation of the international patent application.  The ‘292 Application was prosecuted until 

the applied-for patent was issued as U.S. Patent No. 8,216,583 (the “‘583 Patent”) on July 10, 

2012.  A few months prior to the ‘583 Patent being granted, Abbott filed yet another continuation 

application, U.S. Patent Application No. 13/471,820 (the “‘820 Application”) on May 15, 2012.  

The purpose of the ‘820 Application was to again take advantage of the ‘140 Application’s 2002 

priority date – despite the fact that the ‘140 Application had been abandoned years earlier – for the 

purpose of using that date to pursue even more patents and add to the patent thicket.  Almost three 

years later, on January 13, 2015, the ‘820 Application was granted as U.S. Patent No. 8,932,591.  

However, as Abbott had done before, AbbVie filed four more continuation applications.  This 
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pattern of filing new continuation patents just prior to new patents being granted, allowed Abbott 

and then AbbVie to maintain the ‘140 Application’s 2002 priority date, again, even though the 

‘140 Application had long been abandoned. 

47. AbbVie’s systematic abuse of the patent system successfully created the 

complicated patent thicket it sought.  Indeed, AbbVie obtained – over nine years after Humira 

became available to consumers – no less than 22 patents that otherwise would have been barred 

had AbbVie not used its continuation strategy to keep the ‘140 Application’s 2002 priority date 

active. 

48. One patent, U.S. Patent No. 9,732,152 (Formulation of Human Antibodies for 

Treating TNF-Alpha Associated Disorders)(the “‘152 Patent”), issued on August 15, 2017 – the 

year following Humira’s molecule patent’s 2016 expiration – provides just one example of 

AbbVie’s patent thicket building continuation strategy.  In the ‘152 Patent’s explanation of related 

applications, it sets forth the following: 

This application is a continuation of U.S. patent application Ser. No. 
15/095,393, filed Apr. 11, 2016, which is a continuation of U.S. patent application 
Ser. No. 14/826,357, filed Aug. 14, 2015, now U.S. Pat. No. 9,327,032, issued May 
3, 2016, which is a continuation of U.S. patent application Ser. No. 14/558,182, 
filed Dec. 2, 2014, now U.S. Pat. No. 9,114,166, issued Aug. 25, 2015, which is a 
continuation of U.S. patent application Ser. No. 14/453,490, filed Aug. 6, 2014, 
now U.S. Pat. No. 8,916,158, issued Dec. 23, 2014, which is a continuation of U.S. 
patent application Ser. No. 14/322,581, filed Jul. 2, 2014, now U.S. Pat. No. 
8,911,741, issued Dec. 16, 2014, which is continuation of U.S. patent application 
Ser. No. 14/091,938, filed Nov. 27, 2013, now 20 U.S. Pat. No. 8,795,670, issued 
Aug. 5, 2014, which is a continuation of U.S. patent application Ser. No. 
13/471,820, filed May 15, 2012, now U.S. Pat. No. 8,932,591, issued Jan. 13, 2015, 
which is a continuation of U.S. patent application Ser. No. 10/525,292 filed Oct. 
27, 2005, now U.S. Pat. No. 8,216,583, issued Jul. 10, 2012, which is a United 
States National Stage Application under 35 U.S.C. §371 of PCT/ IB2003/004502, 
filed Aug. 15, 2003 (now expired), which is a continuation of U.S. patent 
application Ser. No. 10/222,140, filed Aug. 16, 2002 (now abandoned).  Each of 
these applications is herein incorporated by reference in its entirety.22 

                                                 
22 U.S. Patent and Trademark Office, Patent No. US 9,732,152 (Formulation of Human Antibodies for 

Treating TNF-Alpha Associated Disorders) (Aug. 15, 2017), https://pdfpiw.uspto.gov/.piw?
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49. Thus, the filing of patent applications shortly after Abbott acquired the rights to 

adalimumab followed by Abbott and AbbVie’s use of serial continuation applications thereafter 

to maintain the earlier priority date for an abandoned application allowed AbbVie to apply for 

hundreds of patents aimed at blocking fair competition, as discussed herein. 

50. AbbVie’s “Patent Thicket” strategy has become clear over the years, though 

AbbVie itself has routinely misrepresented “[t]he vast majority” of its Humira-related patents as 

“reflect[ing] significant innovation and investment,” rather than a carefully crafted anticompetitive 

scheme in violation of state and federal antitrust laws.23 

51. In October 2015, AbbVie CEO Richard Gonzalez discussed what he called 

AbbVie’s Humira “U.S. patent estate” on an investor conference call, along with a presentation of 

a slide deck entitled “AbbVie Long-Term Strategy.”24  While referring to the follow slide 14 

(pictured below), Gonzalez stated: 

                                                 
Docid=09732152&homeurl=http%3A%2F%2Fpatft.uspto.gov%2Fnetacgi%2Fnph-Parser%3FSect1
%3DPTO2%2526Sect2%3DHITOFF%2526p%3D1%2526u%3D%25252Fnetahtml%25252FPTO%
25252Fsearch-bool.html%2526r%3D2%2526f%3DG%2526l%3D50%2526co1%3DAND%2526d
%3DPTXT%2526s1%3D9732152%2526OS%3D9732152%2526RS%3D9732152&PageNum=&
Rtype=&SectionNum=&idkey=NONE&Input=View+first+page. 

23 AbbVie, AbbVie Earnings Report:  Q3 2015 Conference Call Transcript (Oct. 30, 2015) (“Q3 2015 
Earnings Call”). 

24 See AbbVie, AbbVie Long-Term Strategy (Oct. 30, 2015), https://investors.abbvie.com/static-files/
af79eef2-5901-4b62-9354-982d2d95404e. 
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Turning to our US patent estate, as you can see on Slide 14 we have built a 

robust portfolio of intellectual property.  Beyond our composition-of-matter patent, 
we had more than 70 additional later-expiring US patents related to Humira.  The 
vast majority of these patents, which reflect significant innovation and investment, 
were granted by the US Patent and Trademark Office within the past two years. 
These patents expire between 2022 and 2034. 

* * * 

The development of Humira was unchartered territory.  Those efforts resulted in 
the United States Patent Office granting AbbVie dozens of patents covering 
Humira.  The coverage of our later-expiring patents includes methods of use for the 
drug in all Humira indications, methods to formulate the drug, and methods to make 
the drug, as well as other aspects of the Humira product such as the delivery device.  
Any company seeking to market a biosimilar version of Humira will have to 
contend with this extensive patent estate which AbbVie intends to enforce 
vigorously.   

With respect to formulating the drug, we have patents on formulating the 
Humira antibody that also expire no earlier than 2022.  Biologic drugs must be 
administered intravenously or as injections and can be difficult to formulate 
properly. Given our extensive experience with Humira, these patents cover not 
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only our commercial formulation but also other related formulations that 
biosimilar companies might employ.  14 patents have been issued covering 
different formulations of Humira. 

With respect to making the drug, we have important patents on the methods 
of manufacturing Humira that expire no earlier than 2027.  The living cells that 
produce biologic drugs such as Humira can be sensitive to small changes in the 
manufacturing process.  Minor differences in manufacturing process can affect the 
nature of the biologic drug and even its clinical effect. 24 patents have been issued 
covering methods of manufacturing Humira and Humira compositions resulting 
from those methods. 

Today, I’ll focus on those patents which cover using the drug, otherwise 
known as method of treatment patents. While AbbVie’s formulation and 
manufacturing patents for Humira also have broad coverage, without further 
information on the biosimilar we cannot know with certainty the extent to which 
these patents will be infringed.25 

52. Discussing one strata of Humira’s patents, which Gonzalez refers to as “method-

of-use patents,” he presented slide 15 (pictured below), confirming AbbVie’s aims at extending 

the protections for Humira it had crafted through its Patent Thicket strategy in some indications 

until 2030 and further into the future, just under three decades after the original Humira patent 

was issued: 

                                                 
25 Q3 2015 Earnings Call. 
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Now turning to Slide 15. Since the biosimilar statute requires the biosimilar 

to obtain approval for one or more indications previously approved for the 
innovator drug and have the same route of administration, dosage form, and 
strength, we know biosimilars will infringe these method-of-use patents.  We have 
method of treatment patents covering all the indications for which Humira has 
been approved. 

* * * 

These patented in uses have been key to the success of Humira. 

* * * 

In total, putting aside the composition-of-matter patents on Humira, there 
are 22 issued patents directed to the treatment of TNF-mediated diseases that expire 
in 2022 or later.  Additional applications are pending and still being examined in 
the Patent Office.26 

                                                 
26 Id. 
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53. Finally, addressing how litigation would play into AbbVie’s strategies for 

maintaining its unlawful Humira monopoly, Gonzalez explained, bringing attention to slide 16 of 

AbbVie’s long-term strategy deck: 

 
Turning to Slide 16.  As you evaluate the time frame for a potential US 

biosimilar market entry, it is important that you consider the legal process and 
the likely timeline for resolution.  While it’s always difficult to estimate the precise 
duration of the litigation process, the average time to trial for a patent action is 
nearly three a half years.  Appeals to the federal circuit court usually take one year.  
So, based on similar cases, the total litigation timing may be as long as four or five 
years. 

* * * 
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However, in the event a biosimilar attempts to launch at-risk, AbbVie will seek 
injunctive relief. For the reasons we’ve already discussed, biosimilars will 
necessarily infringe our patents.27 

54. In crafting its Humira Patent Thicket strategy, AbbVie sought to block U.S. 

competition through at least 2023 (if not later) without regard to the fact that its primary patent for 

adalimumab expired in 2016.  Indeed, Gonzalez admitted the purpose of AbbVie’s Humira patent 

thicket was a strategic effort to block competitors from the market and maintain Humira’s massive 

revenue stream, stating that “[a]ny company seeking to market a biosimilar version of Humira 

will have to contend with this extensive patent estate[,] which AbbVie intends to enforce 

vigorously,” and reiterating that a patent trial, with appeals, regardless of outcome, generally takes 

four to five years to conclude.28 

55. AbbVie’s illegal conduct has impeded competition, raised patient prices, and 

imposed billions of dollars in costs on the U.S. healthcare system.  These facts and AbbVie’s 

brazen misconduct have not gone unnoticed, as competitors developed Humira biosimilars and 

systematically entered agreements with AbbVie to delay U.S. market entry. 

56. On September 7, 2017, in an article entitled “This Shield of Patents Protects the 

World’s Best-Selling Drug,” Bloomberg reported: 

Humira, a treatment for inflammatory diseases such as rheumatoid arthritis 
and psoriasis made by AbbVie Inc., is the planet’s best-selling drug.  It’s also been 
around almost 15 years.  Those two facts alone would normally have rival 
drugmakers eagerly circling, ready to roll out generic versions that could win a 
piece of the aging medicine’s $16 billion in annual sales.  Yet last year, when the 
patent on Humira’s main ingredient expired, not a single competitor launched a 
copycat version.  Figuring out how to manufacture it wasn’t the obstacle.  The real 
challenge was the seemingly impregnable fortress of patents AbbVie has 
methodically constructed around its prized moneymaker. 

                                                 
27 Id.  

28 Id.   
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The more than 100 patents AbbVie has secured over Humira’s lifetime 
make it difficult for another company to replicate the drug without using 
processes and techniques to which the pharma giant continues to hold rights.  
Many of those patents were issued over the past few years as the expiration of 
Humira’s main patent grew closer.  Typical drugs, made through chemical 
synthesis, usually have no more than a dozen or so patents, if that.  But biologic 
medicines such as Humira, which accounts for more than 60 percent of AbbVie’s 
revenue and can carry a list price of more than $50,000 per patient, are typically 
made in living cells rather than chemically manufactured.  That process often 
involves more steps and a higher level of complexity, which opens the door to more 
potential steps to patent.  What’s more, companies can claim any changes to their 
drugs over the years – say, using a slightly different medium in which to grow cells 
or adjusting the dosing – warrant new legal protections that can keep generic 
competitors at bay. 

* * * 

If you have a $16 billion-a-year drug, “every month is a good month that 
you’re on market alone,” says Mike Fuller, chair of the biotechnology practice 
group at law firm Knobbe Martens.  “So you’re going to spend whatever it takes to 
be as aggressive as possible and get as many patents as possible.” 

* * * 

When asked about patent challenges on an investor conference call earlier this year, 
Chief Executive Officer Rick Gonzalez suggested it won’t be easy for a competitor 
to defeat Humira’s intellectual property.  “The strategy that we have in place is not 
one that hinges on one or two patents,” he said. 

In a presentation by AbbVie in October 2015, a slide titled “Broad U.S. 
Humira Patent Estate” detailed its strategy: patents covering every aspect of the 
drug’s life, from its origins to the diseases it’s approved for.  The company listed 
22 patents for various diseases or methods of treatment, 14 on the drug’s 
formulation, 24 on its manufacturing practices, and 15 “other” patents.  The latest 
expiration date is 2034 – providing more than double the protection span a drug 
such as Humira might normally expect.  “Congress had extensive discussion about 
how long should biologics get exclusivity before they get competition,” says Jeff 
Francer, general counsel at the Association for Accessible Medicines, the 
lobbying group formerly known as the Generic Pharmaceutical Association.  
“They settled at 12 years, and if you take 12 years from when Humira was 
approved, that brings you to 2014, so they’re now trying to get that extended to 
2034.” 

The Humira patents, often with arcane names and descriptions, cover 
everything from what’s inside the drug to how it’s dosed. For example, a patent 
called the Fed-Batch Method of Making Anti-TNF-Alpha Antibody protects the way 
AbbVie produces an antibody used in a cell culture medium with a specific pH, 
Cerwinski says. 
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If the science behind the patents appears exotic to the nonscientist, the legal 
strategy is easy to grasp. In 2014, for instance, AbbVie stepped up its pace of patent 
filings in advance of last year’s expiration of its main patent.  A review of Humira’s 
patents by the Association for Accessible Medicines shows the drugmaker has been 
obtaining patents at a feverish clip in recent years: 21 in 2016 and 32 in 2015. 

* * * 

AbbVie continues to rake in big Humira bucks.  U.S. sales in the most recent quarter 
were up 18 percent, to $3.2 billion in the three months ended June 30, from a year 
earlier. 

“It is that portfolio of patents that provides us confidence that ultimately we 
can protect the position which [sic] Humira based on all the innovation that we’ve 
done and the investment we’ve made,” said CEO Gonzalez.29 

57. On October 16, 2018, in an article entitled “By Adding Patents, Drugmaker Keeps 

Cheaper Humira Copies Out of U.S. – Less expensive versions of world’s biggest-selling drug go 

on sale in Europe, but AbbVie extends its shelf life in U.S. with a ‘patent thicket,’” The Wall Street 

Journal reported: 

Cheaper copies of the world’s biggest-selling drug will roll out across 
Europe this week after a key European patent for Humira expires Tuesday, but U.S. 
patients and insurers will have to wait to access less-expensive versions of the 
blockbuster drug. 

The reason: a formidable wall of patents built up by Humira-maker 
AbbVie Inc., that prevents the developers of “biosimilar” versions launching 
their products in the U.S. 

Biosimilars are near-copies of biologic drugs, such as Humira, that are made 
from living cells in a process that resembles brewing. They are analogous to generic 
copies of traditional pill-form medicines. 

Biologic drugs are some of the costliest in the world, and the availability of 
lower-cost versions as patents expire promises big savings. Humira – a drug used 
to treat diseases from rheumatoid arthritis to gut disorders – alone has more than 
$18 billion in global sales. 

* * * 

                                                 
29 Cynthia Koons, This Shield of Patents Protects the World’s Best-Selling Drug, Bloomberg (Sept. 7, 
2017). 
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The main U.S. patent for Humira expired in 2016. But AbbVie has obtained 
more than 100 additional U.S. patents, a number legal experts describe as 
exceptional for a single drug. The shelf lives of those patents extend into the 2020s 
and 2030s. 

* * * 

Critics, including lawmakers and industry officials, say AbbVie has 
created a “patent thicket” that abuses the U.S. patent system in order to preserve 
its profits. 

* * * 

[I]n the U.S., extra patents have pushed biosimilar developers to delay bringing 
their products to market until the next decade. 

Amgen and Boehringer Ingelheim GmbH developed the two Humira 
biosimilars approved in [the] U.S., but they haven’t so far gone on sale.  Amgen 
settled litigation with AbbVie and agreed to wait until 2023 to launch its version.  
Boehringer Ingelheim says it plans to introduce a biosimilar Humira in the U.S. 
before 2023, but it hasn’t specified a date while it defends itself against a patent-
infringement lawsuit brought by AbbVie. 

At least three more AbbVie rivals – Samsung Bioepis, Mylan and Novartis 
AG – have agreed in legal settlements with AbbVie not to sell their coming 
biosimilars in the U.S. until 2023. 

For now, AbbVie has a U.S. monopoly on a drug whose price has risen to 
more than $60,000 annually for some patients in the 15 years since it launched, 
and which racked up more than $12 billion in U.S. sales last year. 

* * * 

FDA Commissioner Scott Gottlieb in July criticized “patent thickets” for 
brand-name biologic drugs “that are purely designed to deter the entry of 
approved biosimilars,” saying they’ve thwarted competition.  He didn’t identify 
companies he believes are doing so. 

AbbVie in particular has attracted sharp criticism over its patenting 
activities.  In December 2017, Sen. Susan Collins (R-Maine), said AbbVie’s 
patents have “blocked competitors from coming to the market” and called for 
ways to counter such practices. 

“It’s billions of dollars that this costs the U.S. health-care system,” said 
Dennis Lanfear, chief executive of Coherus Biosciences, which has pushed back its 
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planned U.S. launch date for a Humira biosimilar to 2022 from 2018 because of 
AbbVie’s patents.  “The market would be served if there was more competition.”30 

58. As mentioned in The Wall Street Journal, in remarks presented to the 

Pharmaceutical Care Management Association on April 19, 2018, former FDA Commissioner 

Scott Gottlieb stated: 

As everyone in this room knows well, we’re in a period of significant 
change across the health care industry, marked by rapid innovation, broad 
consolidation, and significant pressure to reduce costs – particularly as an 
increasing proportion of health care costs are shifted directly onto patients. 

* * * 

[T]o have competition, you must have competitors.  And FDA has recognized the 
critical role we play in helping ensure timely and robust market competition and 
therapeutic diversity through modern regulatory science standards and efficient 
review processes across the entire life-cycle of product development – from 
generics to biosimilars to branded products. 

* * * 

This is also true when it comes to biosimilars . . . . 

* * * 

Manufacturers are using several schemes to hamstring biosimilar 
competition . . . .  To date, we’ve approved nine biosimilar products, but only three 
are available in the U.S.  In some cases, patent thickets on biologics deter market 
entry for years after FDA approval. . . . 

. . . [T]he net result [of such schemes] is a lopsided playing field that 
disincentives [sic] biosimilar developers from making the sizable investment in 
bringing such products to market.  I am concerned this will lead to reduced 
competition in the long-run and unsustainable costs for these treatments. 

Many of these practices persist because high list prices enable lucrative 
returns across the drug supply chain as the spread between list and net price is 
carved up and shared among participants.31 

                                                 
30 Peter Loftus and Denise Roland, By Adding Patents, Drugmaker Keeps Cheaper Humira Copies Out 

of U.S.-Less expensive versions of world's biggest-selling drug go on sale in Europe, but AbbVie extends 

its shelf life in U.S. with a “patent thicket,” Wall St. J. (Oct. 16, 2018). 

31 Scott Gottlieb, M.D., Remarks to Pharmaceutical Care Management Association, Advancing Patient 

Care Through Competition (April 19, 2018), https://www.fda.gov/NewsEvents/Speeches/ucm605143.htm. 
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59. The Biosimilars Council, a division of the Association for Accessible Medicines 

(“AAM”) is the non-profit voluntary trade association representing companies that develop and 

manufacture generic and biosimilar medicines reviewed and approved by the FDA.  This group 

represents nearly 100 manufacturers and distributors of finished generic pharmaceutical products, 

manufacturers and distributors of bulk active pharmaceutical ingredients, and suppliers of other 

goods and services to the generic pharmaceutical industry.  In September 21, 2018 comments from 

AAM submitted to the FDA concerning “Competition and Innovation in the Biological Products 

Marketplace,” AAM observed: 

A robust biosimilars market is vital to spur future innovation while 
ensuring health care costs benefit from the competition of lower-priced 
alternatives.  Yet, the few launched biosimilar medicines in the United States have 
been slow to gain market share, to the detriment of patients and payors.  This is 
largely due to tactics used by some originator biologic companies that abuse their 
dominant market position to create as many barriers as possible to biosimilar 
approval and uptake, for example: restricting access to samples needed for 
biosimilars development; establishing “patent thickets” intended only to make the 
cost of litigation prohibitive and thereby prevent competition; and sowing seeds of 
doubt regarding the safety and efficacy of FDA-approved biosimilars through 
misleading communication to prescribers and patients. 

* * * 

Patent “thickets”:  As FDA noted, many biosimilar products approved by 
FDA are nonetheless not yet marketed or available to patients.  This is due, in part, 
to efforts by the brand-name pharmaceutical industry to manipulate the patent 
system by building “patent thickets” of potentially non-innovative patents to 
extend their market exclusivity beyond Congressional intent.  Such efforts are 
explicitly designed to increase litigation and development costs for potential 
would-be biosimilar competitors.  These patent thickets chill competition by 
discouraging competitors from entering a market because of the exorbitant cost 
of litigating meritless patents. 

AbbVie’s Humira® is a glaring example.  Humira was first approved in 
2002 and treats a variety of disease states including arthritis, plaque psoriasis, 
ankylosing spondylitis, Crohn’s disease and ulcerative colitis.  While Humira has 
been a boon for patients suffering from these conditions, it can also be prohibitively 
expensive, at more than $38,000 per year.  Although Humira’s 12-year statutory 
market exclusivity expired in 2014 and its principal patent expired in 2016, AbbVie 
filed more than 75 late-stage patents in the three years prior to the 2016 expiration 
to delay biosimilar competition.  As a result, the last Humira patent won’t expire 
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until 2034.  While two Humira biosimilar competitors have been approved to date 
by FDA, none is available to patients.  One remains in litigation and the other’s 
manufacturer has settled out of court to mitigate the risk of prolonged, expensive 
litigation.  AbbVie reported net revenues of $12 billion in 2017 for Humira in the 
U.S. alone, an increase of 18.5 percent over 2016. In contrast, the EU has approved 
4 biosimilars to Humira that are all set to launch later this year.32 

(Footnotes omitted). 

60. Members of the U.S. Senate also have undertaken bipartisan efforts to “stop patent 

gaming and increase access to lower-cost drugs.”33  In a jointly released announcement on March 

6, 2019, Senators Susan Collins (R-ME) and Tim Kaine (D-VA) introduced the Biologic Patent 

Transparency Act, cosponsored by Senators Rob Portman (R-OH), Jeanne Shaheen (D-NH), Mike 

Braun (R-IN), and Debbie Stabenow (D-MI): 

In a bipartisan effort to encourage competition in the prescription drug 
marketplace and put an end to the harmful patent strategies that block new drugs 
from coming to market, U.S. Senators Susan Collins (R-ME) and Tim Kaine (D-
VA) introduced the Biologic Patent Transparency Act.  The legislation was 
cosponsored by Senators Rob Portman (R-OH), Jeanne Shaheen (D-NH), Mike 
Braun (R-IN), and Debbie Stabenow (D-MI). 

“The past century could be termed the Age of Miracle Drugs.  Today, 
however, we might define a ‘miracle drug’ as one that has not doubled in price 
since the last refill,” said Collins.  “We must provide drug makers with the ability 
to recoup their investments, but at the same time, we cannot be blind to the costs of 
these drugs, nor to cases where patent laws are manipulated to preserve monopolies.  
This legislation is an important step to stop the patent gaming that blocks consumers 
from accessing lower-cost biologics.” 

“Biologic medicines can be life-changing for many patients, but we must 
do more to promote competition in the market to ensure patients can access and 
afford them.  Our bill sheds light on the ways patents can be used to deter 

                                                 
32 AAM, Comments from The Association for Accessible Medicines (AAM) and the Biosimilars Council 

on behalf of our member companies, regarding Docket FDA-2018-N-2689, Facilitating Competition and 

Innovation in the Biological Products Marketplace, Public Hearing; Request for Comments (Sept. 21, 
2018), http://biosimilarscouncil.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/09/AAM-Biosimilars-Council-Comments-
on-FDA-2018-N-2689-FINAL-1.pdf. 

33 Press Release, Office of Sen. Tim Kaine, Bipartisan Group of Senators Launch Effort to Stop Patent 

Gaming & Increase Access to Lower-Cost Drugs (Mar. 6, 2019). 
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competition and encourages manufacturers to obtain key patents earlier, which will 
help bring new treatments to patients faster,” said Kaine. 

“One of the most effective ways to hold down drug costs is through 
competition, and I’m proud to cosponsor this bipartisan bill because it will increase 
transparency and reduce barriers that discourage efforts to bring generic 
alternatives to market,” said Portman. 

* * * 

“While drug prices for Americans are rising across the board, costs for 
critical biologic medications have been skyrocketing,” said Braun.  “I’m proud to 
sign on to Senator Collins’ Biologic Patent Transparency Act to shed much-needed 
light on the legal tricks contributing to higher prices and turn off the music on 
the so-called ‘patent dance’.” 

“We need transparency and information about how patents are being used 
– and abused – by Big Pharma,” said Stabenow.  “Our legislation takes an important 
step towards shining a light on drug companies’ deceptive practices.” 

Biologic medicines represent a new and promising era in treatments and are 
used to treat serious and life-threatening conditions, from diabetes and rheumatoid 
arthritis to cancer and multiple sclerosis.  Biologics are also among the most 
expensive drugs on the market, and their exorbitant cost can put these prescriptions 
out of reach for patients.  Fewer than two percent of Americans use biologics, yet 
these drugs account for nearly 40 percent of total drug spending. 

Biologic manufacturers often seek to protect their products by using “patent 
thickets” which range from dozens to even hundreds of patents.  Too often, 
companies design these thickets with the intent of blocking competition, and 
although some of the patents may be invalid or unenforceable, expensive patent 
litigation can deter competitors from offering consumers lower-cost 
alternatives.34 

AbbVie’s Humira Patent Thicket is Insupportable 

61. The validity of AbbVie’s adalimumab patent-amassing efforts was secondary to the 

Company’s anticompetitive goals.  Indeed, many are unsupportable and were obtained through 

false and misleading claims and assertions.  For example, during inter partes review proceedings 

on at least five of AbbVie’s use patents, the U.S. Patent Trial and Appeal Board (“PTAB”) 

determined that three Humira-related patents were invalid on the basis of obviousness.  These 

                                                 
34 Id.   
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included U.S. Patent Nos. 8,889,135 (Methods of administering anti-TNFα antibodies); 9,017,680 

(Methods of administering anti-TNFα antibodies); and 9,073,987 (Methods of administering anti-

TNFα antibodies).  Additional PTAB inter partes review proceedings addressing AbbVie’s U.S. 

Patent Nos. 9,090,689 (Use of TNFα inhibitor for treatment of psoriasis) and 9,067,992 (Use of 

TNFα inhibitor for treatment of psoriatic arthritis) did not reach conclusion, as the inquiry was 

terminated as a result of settlement between the AbbVie and Coherus Biosciences, Inc., though 

Coherus raised similar challenges to those patents, as well.   

62. In finding claims in these patents unpatentable, the PTAB rejected all of AbbVie’s 

secondary considerations of nonobviousness, including:  commercial success; long-felt, unmet 

need; and unexpected results.35  Notably, the PTAB rejected AbbVie’s assertion that the 

commercial success of Humira supported the nonobviousness of the claimed invention in part 

because of statements made by AbbVie in other IPRs challenging patents in the Humira portfolio.  

Here the PTAB found that AbbVie previously relied on features other than those recited in the 

‘135, ‘680, and ‘987 Patents as driving Humira’s commercial success. 

63. Moreover, AbbVie’s ill-conceived patent thicket hinges on its claiming priority to 

the 2002 ‘140 Application.  The ‘140 Application itself, which ultimately was abandoned, was 

fatally deficient and relied on material omissions.  Adalimumab and a biologic drug product 

containing adalimumab were disclosed and claimed in a patent application filed in 1996 that issued 

as now-expired U.S. Patent No. 6,090,382 (the “‘382 Patent”).  The ‘382 Patent was granted on 

July 18, 2000, before the ‘140 application’s filing date.  As such, the ‘382 Patent is invalidating 

prior art to all AbbVie patents relying on the ‘140 Application priority date.  Indeed, the ‘382 

                                                 
35 See Coherus BioSciences Inc. v. AbbVie Biotechnology Ltd., No. IPR2016-00188, 2017 WL 2495422 
(P.T.A.B. June 9, 2017); Coherus BioSciences Inc. v. AbbVie Biotechnology Ltd., IPR2016-00189, 2017 
WL 2495485 (P.T.A.B. June 9, 2017); and Coherus BioSciences Inc. v. AbbVie Biotechnology Ltd., No. 
IPR2016-00172, 2017 WL 2191970 (P.T.A.B. May 16, 2017). 
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Patent describes each element of the ‘140 Application-dependent patents’ claims with the 

exception of concentration of adalimumab, type of surfactant, concentration of surfactant, and, in 

some cases, type of buffer.  Each of these claims, however, would be obvious. 

64. AbbVie made other false and misleading patent applications, as well, in building 

its patent thicket.  In 2006, AbbVie filed U.S. Provisional Application Nos. 60/845,158 and 

60/876,374, followed by a series of continuation applications that issued as, among others, U.S. 

Patent Nos. 8,093,045, 8,911,964, and 9,090,867.  These patents claim a fed batch method of 

producing a protein or various antibodies, including adalimumab. AbbVie had been using a 

substantially similar process since it began manufacturing and selling Humira in 2002.  But 

AbbVie did not reveal that the process it was seeking to patent was not new but was, rather, 

embodied in its prior commercial sales. 

65. During the course of the ‘867 patent prosecution, prior art was brought to light by 

the PTO that called into question specific ‘867 patent claims concerning aspects of the described 

batch method of producing antibodies.  AbbVie held to its claim that no prior art rendered the ‘867 

claims obvious.  AbbVie, however, failed to identify that it had, years earlier, previously used the 

claimed process in manufacturing commercially sold products.  In similar fashion, AbbVie’s ‘361 

patent includes a claim for: 

1.   A process for purifying adalimumab from a fermentation harvest of a Chinese 
Hamster Ovary (CHO) cell culture expressing said adalimumab, said process 
comprising: 

(a) binding adalimumab from said fermentation harvest to a Protein A 
resin, 

(b) eluting the bound adalimumab at an elution pH of 3.6-4, and 

(c) incubating the eluted adalimumab for 1 to 3 hours.36 

                                                 
36 U.S. Patent and Trademark Office, Patent No. 9,018,361(Isolation and Purification of Antibodies Using 

Protein A Affinity Chromatography) (Apr. 28, 2015), https://pdfpiw.uspto.gov/.piw?docid=09018361
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The ‘361 patent’s priority date is October 29, 2008, due to its being a continuation of U.S. Patent 

Application No. 12/582,506, which relied on U.S. Provisional Application No. 61/196,753.  The 

claims were rejected by the PTO as obviously a result of prior art in U.S. Patent No. 5,429,746 and 

U.S. Patent No. 7,820,799’s publication.  Almost the entire ‘361 patent’s claimed process can be 

found in the ‘746 patent.  Additionally, using protein A chromatography as a method of 

adalimumab purification is encompassed by the ‘799 patent. 

66. The ‘361 patent suffered additional obviousness issues due to prior art, as well, 

though AbbVie failed to disclose such prior art during prosecution and claimed instead that the 

‘361 process results were unexpected.  Both the ‘382 and the ‘867 patents, and their earlier-filed 

applications, contained processes directly relevant to and suggesting ‘361 patent claims concerning 

protein A purification for adalimumab that render AbbVie’s representations during the ‘361 patent 

prosecution false and misleading. 

AbbVie Colludes with Amgen and Other Pharmaceutical  

Manufacturers to Preserve Its Monopoly in the United States 

67. The BPCIA, discussed supra, establishes a fast-tracked approval method for 

follow-on competition through abbreviated biologics license applications (“ABLAs”).  Over the 

last four years, other pharmaceutical manufacturers have commenced ABLA processes under 42 

U.S.C. §262(k) for approval to manufacture versions of adalimumab Humira biosimilars.  Of the 

pharmaceutical manufacturers who have submitted ABLAs for biosimilars to Humira, all but one 

have reached settlement agreements with AbbVie that constitute unlawful pay-for-delay and 

market allocation agreements. 

                                                 
&SectionNum=4&IDKey=ABDBD9834B1A&HomeUrl=http://patft.uspto.gov/netacgi/nph-
Parser?Sect1=PTO1%2526Sect2=HITOFF%2526d=PALL%2526p=1%2526u=%25252Fnetahtml%
25252FPTO%25252Fsrchnum.htm%2526r=1%2526f=G%2526l=50%2526s1=9018361.PN.%2526OS=
PN/9018361%2526RS=PN/9018361. 

Case: 1:19-cv-02674 Document #: 1 Filed: 04/19/19 Page 34 of 109 PageID #:34



 

- 34 - 

The ABLA Process 

68. The ABLA process creates a dialogue between two parties:  the entity applying for 

an ABLA and seeking to bring a biosimilar to market (the “Applicant”) and the original creator of 

the biologic, otherwise known as the sponsor of the reference drug (the “Sponsor”).  In the case of 

ABLAs for biosimilars to Humira, the Sponsor would be AbbVie, and the Applicants would be 

other pharmaceutical manufacturers, for example, Amgen.  The purpose of the dialogue between 

the Sponsor and Applicant is to determine the merit of patents the Sponsor has secured covering 

the biologic, its therapeutic uses, and the processes the Sponsor uses to manufacture the biologic.  

This dialogue permits the Sponsor to bring infringement actions at two early phases in the approval 

process, in order to resolve patent disputes between the Sponsor and Applicant before the 

biosimilar enters the market.  

69. The first phase of this dialogue, under 42 U.S.C. §262 (l), consists of six distinct 

steps of information exchange, followed, potentially, by litigation: 

(a) First, within 20 days of submitting its ABLA to the FDA, the Applicant 

must provide the Sponsor with a copy of its application and a description of the biosimilar’s 

manufacturing process, for the Sponsor to evaluate for possible infringement. 

(b) Second, the Sponsor must respond to the Applicant within 60 days with a 

list of patents for which the Sponsor believes “a claim of patent infringement could reasonably be 

asserted” against the Applicant if the Applicant took the biosimilar to market.  42 U.S.C. 

§262(l)(3)(A)(i).  This list of patents the Sponsor submits to the Applicant is sometimes called the 

“3A list.” 

(c) Third, the Applicant has 60 days in which to respond to the Sponsor with 

either (a) the Applicant’s own list of patents for which it believes a reasonable infringement claim 

could be asserted, and a statement asserting on a claim-by-claim basis either non-infringement or 
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the invalidity or unenforceability of such patents, or (b) a statement that the Applicant does not 

intend to begin commercial marketing of the biosimilar product before the date on which the  patent 

expires.  42 U.S.C. §§262(l)(3)(A)(ii) and 262(l)(3)(B).  This response from the Applicant to the 

Sponsor is sometimes called the “3B statement.” 

(d) Fourth, the Sponsor must respond within 60 days with its own statement 

responding to the Applicant’s 3B statement, providing, “on a claim-by-claim basis, the factual and 

legal basis” for the Sponsor’s belief that the patents are valid, enforceable and would be infringed.  

42 U.S.C. §262(l)(3)(C).  This response from the Sponsor to the Applicant is sometimes called the 

“3C statement.” 

(e) Fifth, the parties engage in “good faith negotiations to agree on which, if 

any, patents” identified by the Sponsor or Applicant “shall be the subject of an action for patent 

infringement.”  42 U.S.C. §262(l)(4). 

(f) Sixth, if within 15 days the parties cannot agree on the set of patents to be 

litigated, each party selects a list of patents  that may become the subject of a patent infringement 

suit within 30 days.  42 U.S.C. §262(l)(4)(B) and 262(l)(5).  The Applicant has the right to set a 

numerical limit on the number of patents that the parties may include on these lists.  Within five 

days after the Applicant provides the Sponsor with that numerical cap, the parties must 

simultaneously exchange their lists.  42 U.S.C. §262(l)(5)(B)(ii).  These lists are sometimes called 

the parties’ “(l)(5)” lists.   

(g) After the parties exchange (l)(5) lists, the Sponsor may bring an 

infringement action against the Applicant.  In the absence of an agreement limiting the patents to 

be litigated, the Sponsor may sue the applicant on any or all of the patents included on either 

party’s (l)(5) list. 
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70. The second phase of the ABLA application process begins when an Applicant 

notifies a Sponsor that the Applicant intends to bring the biosimilar to the commercial market 

(which notice the Applicant must provide to the Sponsor at least 180 days before entering the 

market).  In response to this notice, the Sponsor may seek a preliminary injunction prohibiting the 

manufacture or sale of the biosimilar until adjudication of the validity, enforcement and/or 

infringement of any patent on the Sponsor’s original 3A list, and/or any new patents the Sponsor 

obtained after the Applicant commenced the ABLA process.  After the 180-day period above has 

expired, the Applicant may launch its biosimilar (if the FDA has approved the Applicant’s ABLA).  

If the Applicant chooses to launch the biosimilar while the patent litigation with the Sponsor is 

ongoing, the Applicant risks having to pay damages to the Sponsor in the event that the patents are 

found valid, enforceable and infringed:  This is sometimes called launching “at risk.”   

AbbVie and Would-Be Competitor Amgen Resolve Patent 

Litigation with an Anticompetitive Pay-for-Delay Agreement 

71. Amgen was the first pharmaceutical manufacturer to submit an ABLA for a 

biosimilar to Humira under the process described above, submitting ABLA No. 761204 for 

Amjevita to the FDA on November 25, 2015.  On February 10, 2016, Amgen provided AbbVie 

with a copy of the Amjevita ABLA, pursuant to the ABLA process described above.  AbbVie 

reacted to Amgen’s attempted entry into the market with a series of obstructionist tactics.  On April 

11, 2016, AbbVie sent Amgen its 3A list, identifying 66 AbbVie patents that AbbVie claimed 

Amjevita would infringe. 

72. On June 10, 2016, Amgen responded with a detailed, 2,750-page 3B statement, 

disputing validity and/or infringement with regard to 65 of the patents on AbbVie’s 3A list .  

Amgen did not contest validity or infringement with regard to AbbVie’s ‘382 Patent, discussed 

supra, instead certifying that it did not intend to begin commercial marketing of Amjevita until 

after the ’382 Patent expired at the end of 2016. 
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73. AbbVie’s 3C statement to Amgen was not submitted in good faith, but was instead 

designed to create a hold-up in the ABLA process that AbbVie could leverage.  On June 21, 2016, 

a mere 11 days into the 60-day response period to which AbbVie was entitled,  AbbVie submitted 

a 3C statement that contained no statement at all with regard to six of the patents Amgen contested 

in its 3B statement, and only partial responses, which failed meaningfully to address Amgen’s non-

infringement assertions or state the basis for any infringement assertions AbbVie intended to make, 

with regard to the other 59 patents.  AbbVie’s 3C statement ignored and did not respond to many 

of Amgen’s arguments regarding invalidity.  AbbVie also claimed in its 3C statement that it lacked 

sufficient information to formulate an infringement theory, despite AbbVie’s possession of, inter 

alia, the ABLA for Amjevita, and despite AbbVie’s decision not to request any additional 

information from Amgen to assist AbbVie in its analysis.  AbbVie continued to abuse the ABLA 

process in its efforts to prevent Amjevita from reaching the market and to create leverage it could 

use in negotiations with Amgen.  In June and July 2016, Amgen provided AbbVie with a series of 

detailed responses that catalogued the deficiencies of AbbVie’s 3C statement.   

74. AbbVie refused to remedy these deficiencies.   After AbbVie refused to select a 

small number of patents and claims to litigate – instead asserting 61 patents for litigation – Amgen 

told AbbVie on July 30, 2016 that it would limit the parties’ (l)(5) lists to six patents each.  On 

August 4, 2016, the parties exchanged their lists of patents.  AbbVie identified U.S. Patent Nos. 

8,911,964; 8,916,157; 8,986,693; 8,961,973; 9,096,666; and 9,272,041.  Amgen identified U.S. 

Patent Nos. 8,663,945; 8,986,693; 9,096,666; 9,220,781; 9,359,434; and 9,365,645.  AbbVie 

continued in its maximalist approach to the ABLA process by filing suit on all patents listed by 

each party. 

75. On September 23, 2016, the FDA granted approval of Amjevita.  On November 17, 

2016, the court set a schedule for the litigation between AbbVie and Amgen.  The schedule called 
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for the close of fact discovery in January 2018, and trial in November 2019.  On September 28, 

2017, well before the close of fact discovery, AbbVie and Amgen suddenly settled their litigation.  

Amgen agreed to drop its patent challenges and not to enter the market for and compete with 

Humira until January 31, 2023, more than five years after the date of the agreement.  In exchange 

for delaying its entry into the market, Amgen received a valuable period of protection in the 

market, worth hundreds of millions of dollars, and agreed to pay licensing royalties to AbbVie as 

part of the resolution – even though Amgen had no claim to damages or other monetary relief in 

the litigation. 

76. After Amgen filed for FDA approval of a biosimilar to Humira, several other 

manufacturers also applied for FDA approval for their biosimilars, as described below, and the 

FDA has approved at least two such applications.  The AbbVie-Amgen deal was designed in part 

to protect Amgen’s biosimilar from competition with these other biosimilars, granting Amgen’s 

Amjevita a period of exclusivity on the market to compete with Humira.  As part of the AbbVie-

Amgen deal, AbbVie agreed not to permit any other pharmaceutical manufacturer to enter the U.S. 

market for Humira biosimilars until at least five months after Amgen’s entry into the U.S. market.  

This promise would enable Amgen to reap supracompetitive profits in the market for Humira 

biosimilars during the first five months after Amjevita enters the market. 

77. The five-month period of exclusivity with which AbbVie compensated Amgen for 

its delay is highly valuable.  In 2018 alone, revenues from Humira U.S. sales were $13.7 billion – 

a fraction of that market, even in light of the price reductions that competition between Humira 

and Amjevita would cause, is extremely valuable, and the profits from Amjevita would certainly 

be higher in the absence of competition from additional biosimilars other than Amjevita.  The 

precise value of the payment Amgen received in exchange for its delay will vary based upon the 

market for Humira in 2023, but is almost certainly worth hundreds of millions of dollars.   
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78. Amgen and AbbVie’s pay-for-delay agreement lets both pharmaceutical giants reap 

supracompetitive profits, while simultaneously forcing consumers to pay supra-competitive prices 

during the time when other biosimilars would otherwise create a competitive market for 

adalimumab. 

AbbVie Reaches Pay-for-Delay Agreements with 

Pharmaceutical Manufacturers Who File Subsequent ABLA 

79. As mentioned above, after Amgen submitted its ABLA for Amjevita, other 

pharmaceutical manufacturers also sought FDA approval for Humira biosimilars.  Over the 

following years, AbbVie entered into a series of agreements with those pharmaceutical 

manufacturers:  deals designed to delay the competitors’ entry into the market for biosimilars to 

Humira and to preserve the five-month exclusivity period that AbbVie had used to compensate 

Amgen for its delayed entry into the U.S. market.  The first pharmaceutical manufacturer with 

whom AbbVie reached an agreement was Samsung Bioepis.  As of April 5, 2018, Samsung 

Bioepis had not yet filed an application for FDA approval of a biosimilar to Humira, and no 

litigation or information exchange under the ABLA process had commenced between Samsung 

Bioepis and AbbVie.  Nevertheless, on April 5, 2018, AbbVie and Samsung Bioepis announced a 

deal allowing Samsung Bioepis to bring its adalimumab product to the European market on 

October 16, 2018, and to the U.S. market on June 30, 2023.  This agreement preserved the five-

month exclusivity period that AbbVie had negotiated with Amgen.  AbbVie’s press release notes 

that the deal with Samsung Bioepis does not include an acceleration clause, meaning Samsung 

Bioepis cannot enter the market earlier if any other Humira biosimilar – such as Amgen’s – enters 

the U.S. market before it.  Samsung Bioepis agreed to pay licensing royalties to AbbVie as part of 

the resolution.  After reaching this deal, in July 2018, Samsung Bioepis commenced the ABLA 

process for its adalimumab product, SB5, which remains pending before the FDA. 
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80. AbbVie next reached a deal with Mylan on July 17, 2018.  In or around early 2018, 

Mylan also had submitted an ABLA for Hulio, a biosimilar to Humira.  Under the AbbVie-Mylan 

deal, AbbVie permitted Mylan to enter the U.S. market on July 31, 2023.  This timing provision 

not only preserved Amgen’s five-month window of protection, but created a one-month window 

of similar protection for Samsung Bioepis, who would be protected from competition with 

biosimilars other than Amgen’s during its first month on the market.  As was the case under 

AbbVie’s prior deals, Mylan was required to pay licensing royalties to AbbVie as part of the 

resolution.  After Mylan, AbbVie’s next anti-competitive deal was with Sandoz.  On January 17, 

2018, Sandoz commenced the ABLA process with AbbVie, sending AbbVie the ABLA for its 

Humira biosimilar, Hyrimoz.  On March 18, 2018, AbbVie provided Sandoz its 3A list of patents 

for which a claim of infringement could reasonably be asserted on March 18, 2018 (adding 

supplements to the list on April 24, 2018 and May 1, 2018).  On May 16, 2018, Sandoz responded, 

denying in its 3B statement the validity of the patents identified by AbbVie, and AbbVie’s 

allegations that Hyrimoz would infringe those patents.  AbbVie responded with its 3C statement 

on July 15, 2018, identifying 84 patents that, AbbVie claimed, would be infringed by Sandoz’s 

biosimilar.  Continuing its pattern of obstructive, overbroad litigation, nine of the patents AbbVie 

identified in its 3C statement37 were for formulations of buffer systems with particular ingredients, 

none of which ingredients are used in Hyrimoz.   

81. On August 5, 2018, Sandoz notified AbbVie it would limit the parties’ (l)(5) lists 

to one patent each, and the parties exchanged (l)(5) lists on August 10, 2018.  On the same day, 

AbbVie again filed suit on all patents listed by each party – a total of only two in this instance, 

U.S. Patent Nos. 9,187,559 and 9,750,808.  On October 11, 2018, AbbVie and Sandoz announced 

                                                 
37 U.S. Patent Nos. 8,795,670; 8,802,101; 8,802,102; 8,940,305; 9,272,041; 9,295,725; 9,327,032; 
9,732,152; and 9,738,714. 
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a deal to allow Sandoz’s biosimilar to enter the European market on October 16, 2018, and the 

U.S. market on September 30, 2023 – a deal which again preserved Amgen’s five-month protected 

window.  As under the other deals described above, Sandoz agreed to pay licensing royalties to 

AbbVie.  On October 31, 2018, the FDA approved Sandoz’s Humira biosimilar Hyrimoz.  The 

next pharmaceutical manufacturer to reach an anti-competitive deal with AbbVie was Fresenius.  

On December 19, 2017, Fresenius announced that it had submitted MSB11022, its biosimilar to 

Humira, to the European Medicines Agency for review.   

82. On October 18, 2018, AbbVie issued press release, concerning MSB11022, stating: 

AbbVie (NYSE:  ABBV) announced today global resolution of all 
intellectual property-related litigation with Fresenius Kabi over its proposed 
biosimilar adalimumab product.  Under the terms of the settlement agreements, 
AbbVie will grant to Fresenius Kabi a non-exclusive license to AbbVie's 
intellectual property relating to HUMIRA beginning on certain dates in certain 
countries where AbbVie has intellectual property: 

• In the U.S., the Fresenius Kabi license period will begin on September 30, 
2023 and will not be accelerated by the entry of companies who have 
already taken a license. 

• In the European Union, Fresenius Kabi can launch upon approval from the 
European Medicines Agency. 

Fresenius Kabi will pay royalties to AbbVie for licensing its HUMIRA 
patents and acknowledges the validity of the licensed patents.  AbbVie will make 
no payments to Fresenius Kabi. The precise terms are confidential between the 
parties.  All litigation pending between the parties will be dismissed.38 

In similar fashion to the deal reached with Samsung Bioepis, the above was agreed to before 

Fresenius began the ABLA process.  This deal also ensured Amgen’s priority. 

83. On October 1, 2018, Momenta announced that it intended to submit an ABLA for 

M923, a biosimilar to Humira.  On November 6, 2018, AbbVie and Momenta announced a deal 

                                                 
38 Press Release, AbbVie, AbbVie Announces Global Resolution of HUMIRA® (adalimumab) Patent 

Disputes with Fresenius Kabi (Oct. 18, 2018). 
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that would allow Momenta to bring M923 to the U.S. market on November 20, 2023, again 

preserving the five-month window of protection that AbbVie had used to pay Amgen for its delay, 

and preserving shorter windows of artificially limited competition for Samsung Bioepis, Mylan, 

Sandoz, and Fresenius Kabi.  Momenta agreed to pay licensing royalties to AbbVie as part of the 

deal. 

84. Pfizer made positive results from the Phase 3 trials of its Humira biosimilar, PF-

06410293, on August 20, 2018.  On November 30, 2018, AbbVie announced: 

AbbVie (NYSE: ABBV) announced today patent license agreements with 
Pfizer over its proposed biosimilar adalimumab product. Under the terms of the 
agreements, AbbVie will grant Pfizer a non-exclusive license on specified dates to 
AbbVie's intellectual property relating to HUMIRA in the United States and in 
various other countries around the world in which AbbVie has intellectual property: 

• Pfizer's U.S. license will begin on November 20, 2023, and will not be 
accelerated by the entry of companies who have already taken a license. 

• In the European Union, Pfizer can launch upon approval from the European 
Medicines Agency. 

Pfizer will pay royalties to AbbVie for licensing its HUMIRA patents and 
acknowledges the validity of the licensed patents. AbbVie will make no payments 
to Pfizer. The precise terms are confidential between the parties.39 

Again, as with other potential competitors, Pfizer’s biosimilar was not yet the subject of an ABLA.   

85. Finally, on January 25, 2019, Coherus announced its similar deal with AbbVie, 

under which Coherus was permitted to begin marketing its Humira biosimilar in the United States 

on December 15, 2023, and which required  Coherus agreed to pay licensing royalties to AbbVie. 

                                                 
39 Press Release, AbbVie, AbbVie Announces HUMIRA® (adalimumab) Global Patent License with 

Pfizer (Nov. 30, 2019). 
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Boehringer’s Attempts to Bring Cyltezo to Market  
Demonstrate the Effectiveness of AbbVie’s Patent Thicket  
in Forcing Would-Be Competitors to the Negotiating Table 

86. As described supra, AbbVie’s defensive fortifications are so significant that nearly 

every would-be competitor to AbbVie in the adalimumab biosimilar market has reached an anti-

competitive deal with AbbVie, agreeing to delay the launch of their adalimumab biosimilars in the 

United States until 2023.  Unlike the other pharmaceutical manufacturers discussed above, 

Boehringer has continued in its efforts to bring its Humira biosimilar to the U.S. market, and has 

been stymied for years by AbbVie’s gamesmanship. 

87. AbbVie has employed the same dilatory and obstructionist tactics with Boehringer 

as it did with its other would-be competitors.  On October 27, 2016, Boehringer submitted ABLA 

No. 761058 for its Humira biosimilar, Cyltezo, and on January 13, 2017, Boehringer began the 

ABLA process by providing AbbVie with 93,750 pages relating to Cyltezo.  In AbbVie’s 

responsive 3A list, AbbVie identified 72 patents it argued would be infringed by Boehringer’s 

adalimumab biosimilar.  AbbVie included on this list the ’382 Patent, described supra, which had 

already expired in December 2016.  On May 12, 2017, Boehringer provided AbbVie with a 1,841-

page 3B statement, alleging invalidity and non-infringement with regard to the 72 patents initially 

identified by AbbVie, and in July 2017 Boehringer provided similar details with regard to three 

additional patents AbbVie identified after its initial submission.  On July 11, 2017, AbbVie 

responded, alleging in its 3C statement infringement and validity of all of its initially listed patents 

except for the expired ‘382 Patent.   

88. On July 21, 2017, Boehringer requested that AbbVie remove from contention at 

least 16 patents that AbbVie had asserted as potentially infringing, but for which AbbVie admitted 

it could provide no evidence to allege infringement.  AbbVie refused, claiming it needed additional 

unspecified information – but, as was the case in AbbVie’s dispute with Amgen, the sincerity of 
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this claim was belied by AbbVie’s decision not to request any of the additional information in 

claimed it needed.  On July 31, 2017, the parties exchanged their (l)(5) lists, which Boehringer had 

limited to five patents each:  AbbVie identified U.S. Patent Nos. 8,926,975; 9,018,361; 9,266,949; 

9,272,041; and 9,546,212; and Boehringer identified U.S. Patent Nos. 8,926,975; 9,090,867; 

9,096,666; 9,255,143; and 9,272,041.  As AbbVie had done first with Amgen, and again with 

Sandoz, AbbVie decided to file suit on all patents listed by each party:  a total of eight.  AbbVie 

filed suit on August 2, 2017.   

89. On August 28, 2017, the FDA approved Cyltezo.  More than a year and a half later, 

the Boehringer suit is still pending.  Statements from Boehringer in its litigation with AbbVie 

reveals the bad-faith nature of AbbVie’s approach to the ABLA process, and the extremely 

difficult position that would-be competitors find themselves in.  Boehringer has asserted that 

AbbVie has “engaged in a pattern of pursuing numerous overlapping and non-inventive patents 

for the purpose of developing a ‘patent thicket,’ using the patenting process itself as a means to 

seek to delay competition against its expensive and lucrative adalimumab product.” 40  Boehringer 

has noted that “[m]any of the patents identified by [AbbVie] share common specifications and 

have overlapping and nearly identical claims.”  Id.  

90. According to Boehringer, AbbVie’s “patents do not represent innovation, but rather 

are attempts to claim methods of treatment, methods of production, and formulations derived from 

the prior art for the purpose of creating a patent thicket or estate.”41  Faced with the danger of 

launching at-risk, Boehringer has not yet brought its biosimilar to the U.S. market. 

                                                 
40 Boehringer Ingelheim Int’l GMBH, Boehringer Ingelheim Pharm., Inc. and Boehringer Ingelheim 
Fremont, Inc.’s Answer, Defenses, and Counterclaims at 44, AbbVie Inc. v. Boehringer Ingelheim Int’l 
GMBH, No. 1:17-cv-1065 (D. Del. Sept. 11, 2017) (ECF No. 20). 

41 Id. at 45. 
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AbbVie’s Pay-for-Delay Agreements with Other 

Pharmaceutical Manufacturers Also Serve as 

Anti-Competitive Market Division Agreements 

91. As described above, between September 2017 and November 2018, AbbVie 

entered into a series of confidential agreements with manufacturers other than Amgen that operate 

as unlawful market allocation between the U.S. and European markets.  These unlawful anti-

competitive agreements eliminate and delay sales of adalimumab biosimilars from the U.S. market 

until at least June 2023.  The agreements do so in the guise of settlements or licensing agreements, 

but their true nature and effect is clear from, inter alia, the asymmetry of the timing provisions in 

these agreements, and their synchronization with one another and with AbbVie’s agreement with 

Amgen.  The agreements delay biosimilar competition in the U.S. market until June 2023 in order 

to protect AbbVie’s U.S. monopoly in the period before January 2023, and to protect Amgen’s 

five-month payment from AbbVie in the period between January and June 2023.   

92. As it had in the United States, AbbVie had Humira patent protection in Europe.  

But as described above, AbbVie ceded the European market to biosimilar competition – despite 

that patent protection – in exchange for maintaining its monopoly in the United States and 

protecting its payment to Amgen.  AbbVie chose to cede the European market in this way because 

of its low profits in that market relative to the U.S. market.  Because AbbVie’s price for Humira 

in Europe remained significantly lower than its price in the United States, competition in Europe 

affects AbbVie’s profits far less than competition in the United States would.  AbbVie therefore 

chose to allow biosimilar competition to drive down the already-lower prices in Europe, while 

maintaining its supracompetitive prices Humira in the U.S. market. 

93. Under the market division arrangement created by these agreements, AbbVie has 

ensured that no biosimilar to Humira (with the potential exception of Boehringer’s, depending 

upon the outcome of that litigation) can launch in the United States until at least January 31, 2023.  
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Blocking biosimilars to Humira from the U.S. market for this period preserves billions of dollars 

in U.S. revenue for AbbVie.  By allowing other manufacturers to enter the European market in 

exchange for promises to delay entry into the U.S. market until 2023, AbbVie has maintained its 

monopoly in the United States, where consumers continue to pay supracompetitive prices due to 

the absence of Humira biosimilars. 

94. The biosimilar competition Humira has faced in the European market has driven 

down prices for Humira in that market to a discount of between 10% and 80%.42  In the absence 

of biosimilar competition in the U.S. market, AbbVie’s price for Humira has skyrocketed, and can 

now cost patients $50,000 per year. 

95. Defendants’ unlawful market allocation scheme has injured and continues to injure 

plaintiff and others similarly situated, by denying them the ability to buy less expensive 

adalimumab biosimilars. 

ABBVIE POSSESSES MONOPOLY POWER IN THE 

RELEVANT PRODUCT MARKET 

96. Monopoly power is the ability of a single seller to raise prices above the competitive 

price level without losing significant business. 

97. At all relevant times, AbbVie had monopoly power in the U.S. adalimumab market 

and was able to control prices and exclude relevant competitors. 

98. At all relevant times, AbbVie had monopoly power in the U.S. adalimumab market 

because it had the power to raise or maintain the price of Humira at supracompetitive prices 

without losing enough sales to make supracompetitive prices unprofitable.  While the price for 

Humira has increased as discussed herein, Humira has not lost business.  Instead, AbbVie’s 

                                                 
42 Sarah Jane Tribble, Why The U.S. Remains The Most Expensive Market For ‘Biologic’ Drugs In The 
World, NPR (Dec. 19, 2018), https://www.npr.org/sections/health-shots/2018/12/19/676401634/why-the-
u-s-remains-the-mostexpensive-market-for-biologic-drugs-in-the-world. 
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revenues, along with price of Humira, has steadily and dramatically increased year after year over 

the last decade. 

99. The relevant product market is the market for adalimumab (the “Relevant Product 

Market”).  Because of the heightened effectiveness of the biologic compared to its prescription 

drug analogs, which treats similar indications, those analogs are not substitutes.  The pricing of the 

biologic bears this out: despite increased prices for Humira, substitution has not occurred and its 

sales have not declined.  Humira processes 100% of the U.S. adalimumab market. 

100. Functional similarities between Humira and non-adalimumab products are 

insufficient to permit inclusion of those other products in the Relevant Product Market with 

Humira.  To be an economic substitute for antitrust purposes, a functionally similar product must 

exert sufficient pressure on the prices and sales of another product so that the price of that other 

product cannot be maintained at supracompetitive levels.  No other products apart from biosimilar 

versions of Humira could have taken away sufficient sales from Humira and/or prevented AbbVie 

from raising or maintaining the price of Humira at supracompetitive levels.  Absent the conduct 

challenged in this case, only biosimilar versions of Humira would have presented AbbVie with the 

choice of lowering price or losing unit sales. 

101. A small but significant non-transitory price increase in the price of Humira did not 

cause, and would not cause, a significant loss of Humira unit sales to drugs other than adalimumab 

products.  Humira does not exhibit significant positive cross-elasticity of demand with respect to 

any non-adalimumab formulations or treatments and, absent the challenged conduct, would only 

exhibit such elasticity of demand with biosimilar versions of adalimumab. 

102. Physicians are not likely to switch from prescribing their patients adalimumab to 

non-adalimumab products in response to a small but significant non-transitory change in the price 

of adalimumab. 
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103. Substantial barriers to entry exist for potential entrants into the adalimumab market.  

This is largely due to the fact that development of competitor products requires tens if not hundreds 

of millions of dollars and substantial risk, as well as the lengthy and complex process of gaining 

FDA approval.  Moreover, Defendants’ conduct, left unchecked, serves as an additional barrier to 

entry, as potential new entrants recognize that they will be unable to overcome AbbVie’s Humira 

patent thicket and market-timing and allocation agreements with existing adalimumab makers and 

thus profitably enter the Relevant Product Market.  Consequently, competitors will not invest the 

resources necessary to develop biosimilars. 

Geographic Market 

104. The relevant geographic market for the Relevant Product Market alleged herein is 

the United States of America and its possessions and territories, as adalimumab is marketed and 

sold on a national basis. 

Effects on Interstate Commerce 

105. Defendants’ conduct in unlawfully monopolizing and restraining trade and 

competition in the market for adalimumab has substantially affected interstate commerce. 

106. During the relevant time period, AbbVie manufactured, promoted, distributed and 

sold substantial amounts of adalimumab in a continuous and uninterrupted flow of commerce 

across state and national lines and throughout the United States. 

107. During the relevant time period, Defendants transmitted funds as well as contracts, 

invoices and other forms of business communications and transactions in a continuous and 

uninterrupted flow of commerce across state and national lines in connection with  adalimumab. 

108. In furtherance of their successful efforts to restrain competition in the market for 

adalimumab, Defendants employed the U.S. mail and interstate telephone lines, as well as means 
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of interstate travel.  The activities of Defendants were within the flow of and have substantially 

affected interstate commerce 

Effect on Intrastate Commerce 

109. During the relevant time period, adalimumab was shipped into each state and was 

sold to or paid for by plaintiff and members of the Classes. 

110. During the relevant time period, in connection with the purchase and sale of 

adalimumab, money exchanged hands and business communications and transactions occurred in 

each state. 

111. Defendants’ conduct as set forth in this complaint had substantial effects on 

intrastate commerce in that, inter alia, sellers of adalimumab within each state were foreclosed 

from offering cheaper adalimumab to those purchasing inside each respective state that affected 

commerce in each state. 

Antitrust Impact 

112. During the relevant time period, plaintiff and members of the Classes purchased 

substantial amounts of adalimumab indirectly from AbbVie and/or purchased substantial amounts 

of adalimumab indirectly from AbbVie and others.  As a result of Defendants’ illegal conduct, 

members of the Classes were compelled to pay, and did pay, artificially inflated prices for their 

adalimumab requirements.  Those prices were substantially greater than the prices that members 

of the Classes would have paid absent the illegal conduct alleged herein, because: (1) the price of 

Humira was artificially inflated by Defendants’ illegal conduct; and (2) the members of the Classes 

were deprived of the opportunity to purchase other biosimilar products.  The supracompetitive 

prices were paid either at the point of service, in the plaintiff’s participants’ home state or the 

plaintiff’s headquarters. 
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113. As a consequence, plaintiff and members of the Classes have sustained substantial 

losses and damage to their business and property in the form of overcharges.  The full amount and 

forms and components of such damages will be calculated after discovery and upon proof at trial.  

Commonly used and well-accepted economic models can be used to measure both the extent and 

the amount of the supracompetitive charges passed through the chain of distribution to plaintiff 

and members of the Classes. 

114. General economic theory recognizes that any overcharge at a higher level of 

distribution generally results in higher prices at every level below.  See Herbert Hovenkamp, 

Federal Antitrust Policy, The Law of Competition and Its Practice 624 (1994).  According to 

Professor Hovenkamp, “[e]very person at every stage in the chain will be poorer as a result of the 

monopoly price at the top.”  Professor Hovenkamp also acknowledges that “[t]heoretically, one 

can calculate the percentage of any overcharge that a firm at one distribution level will pass on to 

those at the next level.” 

115. Further, the institutional structure of pricing and regulation in the pharmaceutical 

drug industry, and specifically the pricing of biologics, assures that overcharges at the higher level 

of distribution are passed on to plaintiff and the members of the Classes. 

116. Defendants’ anticompetitive actions enabled AbbVie to indirectly charge plaintiff 

in excess of what it otherwise would have been able to charge absent Defendants’ unlawful actions. 

117. The prices were inflated as a direct and foreseeable result of Defendants’ 

anticompetitive conduct. 

118. The inflated prices the Classes paid are traceable to, and the foreseeable result of, 

Defendants’ unlawful conduct and overcharges by AbbVie. 
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CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS 

119. Plaintiff brings this action on its own behalf and as a class action under Rule 23(a) 

and (b)(2) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, seeking equitable and injunctive relief on behalf 

of the following class (the “Injunctive Class”): 

All persons and entities in the United States and its territories, as defined herein, 
who indirectly purchased, paid and/or provided reimbursement for some or all of 
the purchase price of Humira  from January 1, 2017 through the date that the effects 
of Defendants’ conduct ceases (“Class Period”).  This class excludes:  (a) 
Defendants, their officers, directors, management, employees, subsidiaries and 
affiliates; (b) all federal and state governmental entities except for cities, towns or 
municipalities with self-funded prescription drug plans; (c) all persons or entities 
who purchased Humira for purposes of resale or directly from Defendants; (d) fully 
insured health plans (i.e., health plans that purchased insurance covering 100% of 
their reimbursement obligation to members); (e) any “flat co-pay” consumers 
whose purchases of Humira were paid in part by a third-party payor and whose co-
payment was the same regardless of the retail purchase price; (f) pharmacy benefit 
managers; and (g) any judges or justices involved in this action and any members 
of their immediate families. 

120. Plaintiff also brings this action on its own behalf and as a class action under Rule 

23(a) and (b)(3) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure seeking damages on behalf of a nationwide 

class pursuant to the state antitrust, unfair competition, and consumer protection laws detailed in 

Counts IV-VI on behalf of the following class (the “State Damages Class”): 

All persons and entities in the United States and its territories, as defined herein, 
who indirectly purchased, paid and/or provided reimbursement for some or all of 
the purchase price of Humira from at least as early as January 1, 201743 through the 
date that the effects of Defendants’ conduct ceases (“Class Period”).  This class 
excludes: (a) Defendants, their officers, directors, management, employees, 
subsidiaries and affiliates; (b) all federal and state governmental entities except for 
cities, towns or municipalities with self-funded prescription drug plans; (c) all 
persons or entities who purchased Humira for purposes of resale or directly from 
Defendants; (d) fully insured health plans (i.e., health plans that purchased 
insurance covering 100% of their reimbursement obligation to members); (e) any 
“flat co-pay” consumers whose purchases of Humira were paid in part by a third-
party payor and whose co-payment was the same regardless of the retail purchase 

                                                 
43 Under Count V (for Walker Process fraud), the State Damages Class may commence earlier if 
competitors were wrongly dissuaded from seeking earlier entry into the adalimumab market. 
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price; (f) pharmacy benefit managers; and (g) any judges or justices involved in this 
action and any members of their immediate families. 

121. While plaintiff does not know the exact number of the members of the Classes, 

plaintiff believes there are at least thousands of members in each of the Classes. 

122. Common questions of law and fact exist as to all members of the Classes, thereby 

making relief appropriate with respect to the Classes as a whole.  Questions of law and fact 

common to the Classes include, but are not limited to: 

(a) Whether Defendants unlawfully excluded competition for biosimilar 

adalimumab; 

(b) The identity of participants in the scheme; 

(c) The duration of the alleged scheme and the acts carried out by Defendants 

in furtherance of the suspect conduct; 

(d) Whether the alleged conduct violated the Sherman Antitrust Act; 

(e) Whether the alleged scheme violated various state antitrust and consumer 

protection statutes; 

(f) Whether Defendants’ conduct caused injury to the business or property of 

plaintiff and members of the Classes; 

(g) Whether and to what extent Defendants concealed their wrongdoing; 

(h) The effect of the alleged conspiracy on the prices of adalimumab in the 

United States during the Class Period; 

(i) The appropriate injunctive relief for the Classes; and 

(j) The appropriate classwide measure of damages for the Classes. 

123. Plaintiff’s claims arise out of the same common course of conduct giving rise to the 

claims of the other members of the Classes.  Plaintiff’s interests are coincident with, and not 

antagonistic to, those of the other members of the Classes.  Plaintiff is represented by counsel who 
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are competent and experienced in the prosecution of antitrust, consumer protection and class action 

litigation. 

124. The questions of law and fact common to the members of the Classes predominate 

over any questions affecting only individual members, including legal and factual issues relating 

to liability and damages. 

125. Class action treatment is a superior method for the fair and efficient adjudication of 

the controversy, in that, among other things, such treatment will permit a large number of similarly 

situated persons to prosecute their common claims in a single forum simultaneously, efficiently 

and without the unnecessary duplication of evidence, effort and expense that numerous individual 

actions would engender.  The benefits of proceeding through the class mechanism, including 

providing injured persons or entities with a method for obtaining redress for claims that might not 

be practicable to pursue individually, substantially outweigh any difficulties that may arise in 

management of this class action. 

126. The prosecution of separate actions by individual members of the Classes would 

create a risk of inconsistent or varying adjudications, establishing incompatible standards of 

conduct for Defendants. 

COUNT I 

Violation of §2 of the Sherman Antitrust Act, 15 U.S.C. §2 

(Monopolization of the Relevant Product Market) 

(On Behalf of the Injunctive Class Against AbbVie) 

127. Plaintiff repeats and realleges each of the foregoing paragraphs of this complaint 

and incorporates them by reference as though set forth in full herein. 

128. AbbVie has monopolized the Relevant Product Market in violation of §2 of the 

Sherman Antitrust Act (“Sherman Act”). 
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129. Through the scheme described above, and other conduct likely to be revealed in 

discovery, AbbVie has willfully and unlawfully maintained and enhanced its monopoly power in 

violation of §2 of the Sherman Act.  AbbVie’s scheme constitutes unlawful exclusionary conduct 

within the meaning of §2 of the Sherman Act. 

130. AbbVie’s scheme has stifled competition in the Relevant Product Market and 

thwarted Congress’s purpose in enacting the BPCIA. 

131. As a result of AbbVie’s conduct, and the harm to competition caused by that 

conduct, plaintiff and the Classes have suffered substantial and continuing injuries. 

COUNT II 

Violation of §2 of the Sherman Act, 15 U.S.C. §2 

(Attempted Monopolization of the Relevant Product Market) 

(On Behalf of the Injunctive Class Against AbbVie) 

132. Plaintiff repeats and realleges each of the foregoing paragraphs of this complaint 

and incorporates them by reference as though set forth in full herein. 

133. AbbVie has attempted to monopolize the Relevant Product Market in violation of 

§2 of the Sherman Act, 15 U.S.C. §2. 

134. AbbVie is violating §2 of the Sherman Act by attempting to implement the 

anticompetitive scheme set forth above with the specific intent to monopolize the Relevant Product 

Market.  AbbVie’s scheme constitutes exclusionary conduct within the meaning of §2 of the 

Sherman Act. 

135. There is a dangerous probability that AbbVie will succeed in monopolizing the 

Relevant Product Market through its anticompetitive scheme. 

136. AbbVie’s scheme has stifled competition in the Relevant Product Market and 

thwarted Congress’s purpose in enacting the BPCIA. 
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137. As a result of AbbVie’s conduct, and the harm to competition caused by that 

conduct, plaintiff and the Classes have suffered substantial and continuing injuries. 

COUNT III 

Violation of §1 of the Sherman Act, 15 U.S.C. §1 

(Unreasonable Restraint of Trade) 

(On Behalf of the Injunctive Class Against All Defendants) 

138. Plaintiff repeats and realleges each of the foregoing paragraphs of this complaint 

and incorporates them by reference as though set forth in full herein. 

139. AbbVie and the other Defendants entered into agreements in the Relevant Product 

Market in violation of §1 of the Sherman Act. 

140. Through the scheme described above, and by other conduct likely to be revealed in 

discovery, Defendants have willfully and unlawfully entered into agreements in restraint of trade 

that impeded fair competition in the Relevant Product Market and caused plaintiff and the Classes 

to pay increased prices for adalimumab. 

141. AbbVie’s scheme has stifled competition in the Relevant Product Market and 

thwarted Congress’s purpose in enacting the BPCIA. 

142. 99. As a result of AbbVie’s conduct, and the harm to competition caused by 

that conduct, plaintiff and the Classes have suffered substantial and continuing injuries. 

COUNT IV 

Violation of State Antitrust Statutes 

(On Behalf of the State Damages Class Against All Defendants) 

143. Plaintiff repeats and realleges each of the foregoing paragraphs of this complaint 

and incorporates them by reference as though set forth in full herein. 

144. By engaging in the foregoing conduct, Defendants violated the following state 

antitrust laws: 

145. Arizona: 
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(a) Defendants agreed to, and did in fact, act in restraint of trade or commerce 

in the market for adalimumab in Arizona. 

(b) Defendants’ conduct had the following effects:  Arizona purchasers paid 

supracompetitive, artificially inflated prices for adalimumab. 

(c) During the Class Period, Defendants’ illegal conduct substantially affected 

Arizona commerce. 

(d) Defendants’ violations of Arizona law were flagrant. 

(e) As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ unlawful conduct, Arizona 

purchasers have been injured in their business and property and are threatened with further injury. 

(f) By reason of the foregoing, Defendants have violated Ariz. Rev. Stat. Ann. 

§44-1402, et seq.  Accordingly, Arizona purchasers seek all forms of relief available under Ariz. 

Rev. Stat. Ann. §44-1402, et seq. 

146. California: 

(a) Defendants agreed to, and did in fact, act in restraint of trade or commerce 

in the market for adalimumab in California. 

(b) Defendants’ conduct had the following effects:  California purchasers paid 

supracompetitive, artificially inflated prices for adalimumab. 

(c) During the Class Period, Defendants’ illegal conduct substantially affected 

California commerce. 

(d) As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ unlawful conduct, 

California purchasers have been injured in their business and property and are threatened with 

further injury. 
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(e) By reason of the foregoing, Defendants have violated Cal. Bus. & Prof. 

Code §16720, et seq.  Accordingly, California purchasers seek all forms of relief available under 

Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code §16720, et seq. 

147. District of Columbia: 

(a) Defendants agreed to, and did in fact, act in restraint of trade or commerce 

in the market for adalimumab in the District of Columbia. 

(b) Defendants’ conduct had the following effects:  District of Columbia 

purchasers paid supracompetitive, artificially inflated prices for adalimumab. 

(c) During the Class Period, Defendants’ illegal conduct substantially affected 

District of Columbia commerce. 

(d) As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ unlawful conduct, District 

of Columbia purchasers have been injured in their business and property and are threatened with 

further injury. 

(e) By reason of the foregoing, Defendants have violated D.C. Code §28-

4509(a).  Accordingly, District of Columbia purchasers seek all forms of relief available under 

D.C. Code §28-4509(a). 

148. Hawaii: 

(a) Defendants agreed to, and did in fact, act in restraint of trade or commerce 

in the market for adalimumab in Hawaii. 

(b) Defendants’ conduct had the following effects:  Hawaii purchasers paid 

supracompetitive, artificially inflated prices for adalimumab. 

(c) During the Class Period, Defendants’ illegal conduct substantially affected 

Hawaii commerce. 
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(d) As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ unlawful conduct, Hawaii 

purchasers have been injured in their business and property and are threatened with further injury. 

(e) By reason of the foregoing, Defendants have violated Haw. Rev. Stat. §480-

3, et seq.  Accordingly, Hawaii purchasers seek all forms of relief available under Haw. Rev. Stat. 

§480-3, et seq. 

149. Iowa: 

(a) Defendants agreed to, and did in fact, act in restraint of trade or commerce 

in the market for adalimumab in Iowa. 

(b) Defendants’ conduct had the following effects:  Iowa purchasers paid 

supracompetitive, artificially inflated prices for adalimumab. 

(c) During the Class Period, Defendants’ illegal conduct substantially affected 

Iowa commerce. 

(d) As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ unlawful conduct, Iowa 

purchasers have been injured in their business and property and are threatened with further injury. 

(e) By reason of the foregoing, Defendants have violated Iowa Code §553.2, et 

seq.  Accordingly, Iowa purchasers seek all forms of relief available under Iowa Code §553.2, et 

seq. 

150. Kansas: 

(a) Defendants agreed to, and did in fact, act in restraint of trade or commerce 

in the market for adalimumab in Kansas. 

(b) Defendants’ conduct had the following effects:  Kansas purchasers paid 

supracompetitive, artificially inflated prices for adalimumab. 

(c) During the Class Period, Defendants’ illegal conduct substantially affected 

Kansas commerce. 
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(d) As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ unlawful conduct, Kansas 

purchasers have been injured in their business and property and are threatened with further injury. 

(e) By reason of the foregoing, Defendants have violated Kan. Stat. Ann. §50-

101, et seq.  Accordingly, Kansas purchasers seek all forms of relief available under Kan. Stat. 

Ann. §50-101, et seq. 

151. Maine: 

(a) Defendants agreed to, and did in fact, act in restraint of trade or commerce 

in the market for adalimumab in Maine. 

(b) Defendants’ conduct had the following effects:  Maine purchasers paid 

supracompetitive, artificially inflated prices for adalimumab. 

(c) During the Class Period, Defendants’ illegal conduct substantially affected 

Maine commerce. 

(d) As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ unlawful conduct, Maine 

purchasers have been injured in their business and property and are threatened with further injury. 

(e) By reason of the foregoing, Defendants have violated Me. Stat. tit. 10, 

§1101, et seq.  Accordingly, Maine purchasers seek all forms of relief available under Me. Stat. 

tit. 10, §1101, et seq. 

152. Michigan: 

(a) Defendants agreed to, and did in fact, act in restraint of trade or commerce 

in the market for adalimumab in Michigan. 

(b) Defendants’ conduct had the following effects:  Michigan purchasers paid 

supracompetitive, artificially inflated prices for adalimumab. 

(c) During the Class Period, Defendants’ illegal conduct substantially affected 

Michigan commerce. 
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(d) As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ unlawful conduct, Michigan 

purchasers have been injured in their business and property and are threatened with further injury. 

(e) By reason of the foregoing, Defendants have violated Mich. Comp. Laws 

§445.771, et seq.  Accordingly, Michigan purchasers seek all forms of relief available under Mich. 

Comp. Laws §445.771, et seq. 

153. Minnesota: 

(a) Defendants agreed to, and did in fact, act in restraint of trade or commerce 

in the market for adalimumab in Minnesota. 

(b) Defendants’ conduct had the following effects:  Minnesota purchasers paid 

supracompetitive, artificially inflated prices for adalimumab. 

(c) During the Class Period, Defendants’ illegal conduct substantially affected 

Minnesota commerce. 

(d) As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ unlawful conduct, 

Minnesota purchasers have been injured in their business and property and are threatened with 

further injury. 

(e) By reason of the foregoing, Defendants have violated Minn. Stat. §325D.57, 

et seq.  Accordingly, Minnesota purchasers seek all forms of relief available under Minn. Stat. 

§325D.57, et seq. 

154. Mississippi: 

(a) Defendants agreed to, and did in fact, act in restraint of trade or commerce 

in  the market for adalimumab in Mississippi. 

(b) Defendants’ conduct had the following effects:  Mississippi purchasers paid 

supracompetitive, artificially inflated prices for adalimumab. 
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(c) During the Class Period, Defendants’ illegal conduct substantially affected 

Mississippi commerce. 

(d) As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ unlawful conduct, 

Mississippi purchasers have been injured in their business and property and are threatened with 

further injury. 

(e) By reason of the foregoing, Defendants have violated Miss. Code Ann. §75-

21-9, et seq.  Accordingly, Mississippi purchasers seek all forms of relief available under Miss. 

Code Ann. §75-21-9, et seq. 

155. Nebraska: 

(a) Defendants agreed to, and did in fact, act in restraint of trade or commerce 

in the market for adalimumab in Nebraska. 

(b) Defendants’ conduct had the following effects:  Nebraska purchasers paid 

supracompetitive, artificially inflated prices for adalimumab. 

(c) During the Class Period, Defendants’ illegal conduct substantially affected 

Nebraska commerce. 

(d) As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ unlawful conduct, Nebraska 

purchasers have been injured in their business and property and are threatened with further injury. 

(e) By reason of the foregoing, Defendants have violated Neb. Rev. Stat. §§59-

801 and 59-802, et seq.  Accordingly, Nebraska purchasers seek all forms of relief available under 

Neb. Rev. Stat. §§59-801 and 59-802, et seq. 

156. Nevada: 

(a) Defendants agreed to, and did in fact, act in restraint of trade or commerce 

in the market for adalimumab in Nevada. 
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(b) Defendants’ conduct had the following effects:  Nevada purchasers paid 

supracompetitive, artificially inflated prices for adalimumab. 

(c) During the Class Period, Defendants’ illegal conduct substantially affected 

Nevada commerce. 

(d) As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ unlawful conduct, Nevada 

purchasers have been injured in their business and property and are threatened with further injury. 

(e) By reason of the foregoing, Defendants have violated Nev. Rev. Stat. 

§598A.210(2), et seq.  Accordingly, Nevada purchasers seek all forms of relief available under 

Nev. Rev. Stat. §598A.210(2), et seq. 

157. New Hampshire: 

(a) Defendants agreed to, and did in fact, act in restraint of trade or commerce 

in the market for adalimumab in New Hampshire. 

(b) Defendants’ conduct had the following effects:  New Hampshire purchasers 

paid supracompetitive, artificially inflated prices for adalimumab. 

(c) During the Class Period, Defendants’ illegal conduct substantially affected 

New Hampshire commerce. 

(d) As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ unlawful conduct, New 

Hampshire purchasers have been injured in their business and property and are threatened with 

further injury. 

(e) By reason of the foregoing, Defendants have violated N.H. Rev. Stat. Ann. 

§356:11(II), et seq.  Accordingly, New Hampshire purchasers seek all forms of relief available 

under N.H. Rev. Stat. Ann. §356:11(II), et seq. 

158. New Mexico: 

Case: 1:19-cv-02674 Document #: 1 Filed: 04/19/19 Page 63 of 109 PageID #:63



 

- 63 - 

(a) Defendants agreed to, and did in fact, act in restraint of trade or commerce 

in the market for adalimumab in New Mexico. 

(b) Defendants’ conduct had the following effects:  New Mexico purchasers 

paid supracompetitive, artificially inflated prices for adalimumab. 

(c) During the Class Period, Defendants’ illegal conduct substantially affected 

New Mexico commerce. 

(d) As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ unlawful conduct, New 

Mexico purchasers have been injured in their business and property and are threatened with further 

injury. 

(e) By reason of the foregoing, Defendants have violated N.M. Stat. Ann. §§57-

1-1 and 57-1-2, et seq.  Accordingly, New Mexico purchasers seek all forms of relief available 

under N.M. Stat. Ann. §§57-1-1 and 57-1-2, et seq. 

159. New York: 

(a) Defendants agreed to, and did in fact, act in restraint of trade or commerce 

in the market for adalimumab in New York. 

(b) Defendants’ conduct had the following effects:  New York purchasers paid 

supracompetitive, artificially inflated prices for adalimumab. 

(c) During the Class Period, Defendants’ illegal conduct substantially affected 

New York commerce. 

(d) As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ unlawful conduct, New 

York purchasers have been injured in their business and property and are threatened with further 

injury. 
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(e) By reason of the foregoing, Defendants have violated N.Y. Gen. Bus. Law 

§340, et seq.  Accordingly, New York purchasers seek all forms of relief available under N.Y. 

Gen. Bus. Law §349, et seq. 

160. North Carolina: 

(a) Defendants agreed to, and did in fact, act in restraint of trade or commerce 

in the market for adalimumab in North Carolina. 

(b) Defendants’ conduct had the following effects:  North Carolina purchasers 

paid supracompetitive, artificially inflated prices for adalimumab. 

(c) During the Class Period, Defendants’ illegal conduct substantially affected 

North Carolina commerce. 

(d) As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ unlawful conduct, North 

Carolina purchasers have been injured in their business and property and are threatened with 

further injury. 

(e) By reason of the foregoing, Defendants have violated N.C. Gen. Stat. §75-

1, et seq.  Accordingly, North Carolina purchasers seek all forms of relief available under N.C. 

Gen. Stat. §75-1, et seq. 

161. North Dakota: 

(a) Defendants agreed to, and did in fact, act in restraint of trade or commerce 

in the market for adalimumab in North Dakota. 

(b) Defendants’ conduct had the following effects:  North Dakota purchasers 

paid supracompetitive, artificially inflated prices for adalimumab. 

(c) During the Class Period, Defendants’ illegal conduct substantially affected 

North Dakota commerce. 
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(d) As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ unlawful conduct, North 

Dakota purchasers have been injured in their business and property and are threatened with further 

injury. 

(e) By reason of the foregoing, Defendants have violated N.D. Cent. Code 

§§51-08.1-01-02, et seq.  Accordingly, North Dakota purchasers seek all forms of relief available 

under N.D. Cent. Code. §§51-08.1-01-02, et seq. 

162. Oregon: 

(a) Defendants agreed to, and did in fact, act in restraint of trade or commerce 

in the market for adalimumab in Oregon. 

(b) Defendants’ conduct had the following effects:  Oregon purchasers paid 

supracompetitive, artificially inflated prices for adalimumab. 

(c) During the Class Period, Defendants’ illegal conduct substantially affected 

Oregon commerce. 

(d) As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ unlawful conduct, Oregon 

purchasers have been injured in their business and property and are threatened with further injury. 

(e) By reason of the foregoing, Defendants have violated Or. Rev. Stat. 

§646.705, et seq.  Accordingly, Oregon purchasers seek all forms of relief available under Or. Rev. 

Stat. §646.705, et seq. 

163. Rhode Island: 

(a) Defendants agreed to, and did in fact, act in restraint of trade or commerce 

in the market for adalimumab in Rhode Island. 

(b) Defendants’ conduct had the following effects:  Rhode Island  purchasers 

paid supracompetitive, artificially inflated prices for adalimumab. 
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(c) During the Class Period, Defendants’ illegal conduct substantially affected 

Rhode Island commerce. 

(d) As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ unlawful conduct, Rhode 

Island purchasers have been injured in their business and property and are threatened with further 

injury. 

(e) By reason of the foregoing, Defendants have violated R.I. Gen. Laws §6-

36-4, et seq.  Accordingly, Rhode Island purchasers seek all forms of relief available under R.I. 

Gen. Laws §6-36-4, et seq. 

164. South Dakota: 

(a) Defendants agreed to, and did in fact, act in restraint of trade or commerce 

in the market for adalimumab in South Dakota. 

(b) Defendants’ conduct had the following effects:  South Dakota  purchasers 

paid supracompetitive, artificially inflated prices for adalimumab. 

(c) During the Class Period, Defendants’ illegal conduct substantially affected 

South Dakota commerce. 

(d) As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ unlawful conduct, South 

Dakota purchasers have been injured in their business and property and are threatened with further 

injury. 

(e) By reason of the foregoing, Defendants have violated S.D. Codified Laws 

§§37-1-3.1 and 37-1-3.2, et seq.  Accordingly, South Dakota purchasers seek all forms of relief 

available under S.D. Codified Laws §37-1-14-3, et seq. 

165. Tennessee: 

(a) Defendants agreed to, and did in fact, act in restraint of trade or commerce 

in the market for adalimumab in Tennessee. 
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(b) Defendants’ conduct had the following effects:  Tennessee purchasers paid 

supracompetitive, artificially inflated prices for adalimumab. 

(c) During the Class Period, Defendants’ illegal conduct substantially affected 

Tennessee commerce. 

(d) As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ unlawful conduct, 

Tennessee purchasers have been injured in their business and property and are threatened with 

further injury. 

(e) By reason of the foregoing, Defendants have violated Tenn. Code Ann. §47-

25-106, et seq.  Accordingly, Tennessee purchasers seek all forms of relief available under Tenn. 

Code Ann. §47-25-101, et seq. 

166. U.S. Virgin Islands: 

(a) Defendants agreed to, and did in fact, act in restraint of trade or commerce 

in the market for adalimumab in the U.S. Virgin Islands. 

(b) Defendants’ conduct had the following effects:  U.S. Virgin Islands 

purchasers paid supracompetitive, artificially inflated prices for adalimumab. 

(c) During the Class Period, Defendants’ illegal conduct substantially affected 

U.S. Virgin Islands commerce. 

(d) As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ unlawful conduct, U.S. 

Virgin Islands purchasers have been injured in their business and property and are threatened with 

further injury. 

(e) By reason of the foregoing, Defendants have violated V.I. Code Ann. tit. 

11, §1507(4), et seq.  Accordingly, U.S. Virgin Islands purchasers seek all forms of relief available 

under V.I. Code Ann. tit. 11, §1507(4), et seq. 

167. Utah: 
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(a) Defendants agreed to, and did in fact, act in restraint of trade or commerce 

in the market for adalimumab in Utah. 

(b) Defendants’ conduct had the following effects:  Utah purchasers paid 

supracompetitive, artificially inflated prices for adalimumab. 

(c) During the Class Period, Defendants’ illegal conduct substantially affected 

Utah commerce. 

(d) As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ unlawful conduct, Utah 

purchasers have been injured in their business and property and are threatened with further injury. 

(e) By reason of the foregoing, Defendants have violated Utah Code Ann. §76-

10-3101, et seq.  Accordingly, Utah purchasers seek all forms of relief available under Utah Code 

Ann. §76-10-3101, et seq. 

168. West Virginia: 

(a) Defendants agreed to, and did in fact, act in restraint of trade or commerce 

in the market for adalimumab in West Virginia. 

(b) Defendants’ conduct had the following effects:  West Virginia purchasers 

paid supracompetitive, artificially inflated prices for adalimumab. 

(c) During the Class Period, Defendants’ illegal conduct substantially affected 

West Virginia commerce. 

(d) As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ unlawful conduct, West 

Virginia purchasers have been injured in their business and property and are threatened with further 

injury. 

(e) By reason of the foregoing, Defendants have violated W. Va. Code §47-18-

20, et seq.  Accordingly, West Virginia purchasers seek all forms of relief available under W. Va. 

Code §47-18-20, et seq. 
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169. Wisconsin: 

(a) Defendants agreed to, and did in fact, act in restraint of trade or commerce 

in the market for adalimumab in Wisconsin. 

(b) Defendants’ conduct had the following effects:  Wisconsin purchasers paid 

supracompetitive, artificially inflated prices for adalimumab. 

(c) During the Class Period, Defendants’ illegal conduct substantially affected 

Wisconsin commerce. 

(d) As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ unlawful conduct, 

Wisconsin purchasers have been injured in their business and property and are threatened with 

further injury. 

(e) By reason of the foregoing, Defendants have violated Wis. Stat. §133.03(1), 

et seq.  Accordingly, Wisconsin purchasers seek all forms of relief available under Wis. Stat. Ann. 

§133.03(1), et seq. 

170. Plaintiff and members of the State Damages Class have been injured in their 

business or property by reason of Defendants’ antitrust violations alleged in this Count.  Their 

injuries consist of being denied the opportunity to purchase lower-priced adalimumab and paying 

higher prices for adalimumab than they would have paid in the absence of Defendants’ conduct.  

These injuries are of the type the antitrust laws were designed to prevent and flow from that which 

makes Defendants’ conduct unlawful. 

171. Plaintiff and the State Damages Class seek damages and multiple damages as 

permitted by law for their injuries by Defendants’ violations of the aforementioned statutes. 
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COUNT V 

Violation of State Law for Walker Process Fraud 

(On Behalf of the State Damages Class Against AbbVie) 

172. Plaintiff repeats and realleges each of the foregoing paragraphs of this complaint 

and incorporates them by reference as though set forth in full herein. 

173. AbbVie willfully and unlawfully maintained its monopoly power in the 

adalimumab market from at least January 1, 2017 – but potentially earlier if adalimumab 

competitors were wrongly dissuaded from seeking earlier entry in the market – through at least the 

present day by wrongfully asserting patents obtained by fraud to keep competing products from 

the market – not as a result of providing a superior product, business acumen, or historical accident. 

174. As detailed above, AbbVie knowingly and intentionally brought suit regarding 

competing patents knowing that its patents were invalid.  It did this in an attempt to maintain its 

stranglehold on the market for its blockbuster product, Humira. 

175. Representations from AbbVie regarding the non-obviousness of adalimumab 

patents were material misrepresentations.  These statements were made with the intent to deceive 

the U.S. Patent & Trademark Office.  The misleading statements were made intentionally, not 

accidentally.  Defendants were motivated to obtain a longer period of patent protection, given the 

large sales of Humira and the importance of the product to AbbVie. 

176. AbbVie’s misrepresentations and omissions delayed and continues to delay the 

entry of competitors. 

177. There is no valid procompetitive business justifications for AbbVie’s conduct and 

to the extent one is offered, it is pretextual and not cognizable.  Any procompetitive benefits of 

AbbVie’s conduct do not outweigh the anticompetitive harms. 
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178. By engaging in this conduct related to patent litigation, AbbVie has wrongfully 

maintained monopoly power in the relevant markets in violation of the following state laws.  This 

violation is in addition to, and a part of, the multifaceted scheme pleaded herein. 

179. Arizona: 

(a) AbbVie acted in restraint of trade or commerce by illegally monopolizing 

and attempting to monopolize the market for adalimumab in Arizona through abuse of the patent 

process. 

(b) AbbVie’s conduct had the following effects:  Arizona purchasers paid 

supracompetitive, artificially inflated prices for adalimumab. 

(c) During the Class Period, AbbVie’s illegal conduct substantially affected 

Arizona commerce.  This conduct was flagrant. 

(d) As a direct and proximate result of AbbVie’s unlawful conduct, Arizona 

purchasers have been injured in their business and property and are threatened with further injury. 

(e) By reason of the foregoing, AbbVie has violated Ariz. Rev. Stat. Ann. §44-

1402, et seq.  Accordingly, Arizona purchasers seek all forms of relief available under Ariz. Rev. 

Stat. Ann. §44-1402, et seq. 

180. California: 

(a) AbbVie acted in restraint of trade or commerce by illegally monopolizing 

and attempting to monopolize the market for adalimumab in California through abuse of the patent 

process. 

(b) AbbVie’s conduct had the following effects:  California purchasers paid 

supracompetitive, artificially inflated prices for adalimumab. 

(c) During the Class Period, AbbVie’s illegal conduct substantially affected 

California commerce. 
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(d) As a direct and proximate result of AbbVie’s unlawful conduct, California 

purchasers have been injured in their business and property and are threatened with further injury. 

(e) By reason of the foregoing, AbbVie has violated Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code 

§16720, et seq.  Accordingly, California purchasers seek all forms of relief available under Cal. 

Bus. & Prof. Code §16720, et seq. 

181. District of Columbia: 

(a) AbbVie acted in restraint of trade or commerce by illegally monopolizing 

and attempting to monopolize the market for adalimumab in the District of Columbia through 

abuse of the patent process. 

(b) AbbVie’s conduct had the following effects:  District of Columbia 

purchasers paid supracompetitive, artificially inflated prices for adalimumab. 

(c) During the Class Period, AbbVie’s illegal conduct substantially affected 

District of Columbia commerce. 

(d) As a direct and proximate result of AbbVie’s unlawful conduct, District of 

Columbia purchasers have been injured in their business and property and are threatened with 

further injury. 

(e) By reason of the foregoing, AbbVie has violated D.C. Code §28-4509(a).  

Accordingly, District of Columbia purchasers seek all forms of relief available under D.C. Code 

§28-4509(a). 

182. Hawaii: 

(a) AbbVie acted in restraint of trade or commerce by illegally monopolizing 

and attempting to monopolize the market for adalimumab in Hawaii through abuse of the patent 

process. 
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(b) AbbVie’s conduct had the following effects:  Hawaii purchasers paid 

supracompetitive, artificially inflated prices for adalimumab. 

(c) During the Class Period, AbbVie’s illegal conduct substantially affected 

Hawaii commerce. 

(d) As a direct and proximate result of AbbVie’s unlawful conduct, Hawaii 

purchasers have been injured in their business and property and are threatened with further injury. 

(e) By reason of the foregoing, AbbVie has violated Haw. Rev. Stat. §480-3, et 

seq.  Accordingly, Hawaii purchasers seek all forms of relief available under Haw. Rev. Stat. §480-

3, et seq. 

183. Iowa: 

(a) AbbVie acted in restraint of trade or commerce by illegally monopolizing 

and attempting to monopolize the market for adalimumab in Iowa through abuse of the patent 

process. 

(b) AbbVie’s conduct had the following effects:  Iowa purchasers paid 

supracompetitive, artificially inflated prices for adalimumab. 

(c) During the Class Period, AbbVie’s illegal conduct substantially affected 

Iowa commerce. 

(d) As a direct and proximate result of AbbVie’s unlawful conduct, Iowa 

purchasers have been injured in their business and property and are threatened with further injury. 

(e) By reason of the foregoing, AbbVie has violated Iowa Code §553.2, et seq.  

Accordingly, Iowa purchasers seek all forms of relief available under Iowa Code §553.2, et seq. 

184. Kansas: 
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(a) AbbVie acted in restraint of trade or commerce by illegally monopolizing 

and attempting to monopolize the market for adalimumab in Kansas through abuse of the patent 

process. 

(b) AbbVie’s conduct had the following effects:  Kansas purchasers paid 

supracompetitive, artificially inflated prices for adalimumab. 

(c) During the Class Period, AbbVie’s illegal conduct substantially affected 

Kansas commerce. 

(d) As a direct and proximate result of AbbVie’s unlawful conduct, Kansas 

purchasers have been injured in their business and property and are threatened with further injury. 

(e) By reason of the foregoing, AbbVie has violated Kan. Stat. Ann. §50-101, 

et seq.  Accordingly, Kansas purchasers seek all forms of relief available under Kan. Stat. Ann. 

§50-101, et seq. 

185. Maine: 

(a) AbbVie acted in restraint of trade or commerce by illegally monopolizing 

and attempting to monopolize the market for adalimumab in Maine through abuse of the patent 

process. 

(b) AbbVie’s conduct had the following effects:  Maine purchasers paid 

supracompetitive, artificially inflated prices for adalimumab. 

(c) During the Class Period, AbbVie’s illegal conduct substantially affected 

Maine commerce. 

(d) As a direct and proximate result of AbbVie’s unlawful conduct, Maine 

purchasers have been injured in their business and property and are threatened with further injury. 
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(e) By reason of the foregoing, AbbVie has violated Me. Stat. tit. 10, §1101, et 

seq.  Accordingly, Maine purchasers seek all forms of relief available under Me. Stat. tit. 10, 

§1101, et seq. 

186. Michigan: 

(a) AbbVie acted in restraint of trade or commerce by illegally monopolizing 

and attempting to monopolize the market for adalimumab in Michigan through abuse of the patent 

process. 

(b) AbbVie’s conduct had the following effects:  Michigan purchasers paid 

supracompetitive, artificially inflated prices for adalimumab. 

(c) During the Class Period, AbbVie’s illegal conduct substantially affected 

Michigan commerce. 

(d) As a direct and proximate result of AbbVie’s unlawful conduct, Michigan 

purchasers have been injured in their business and property and are threatened with further injury. 

(e) By reason of the foregoing, AbbVie has violated Mich. Comp. Laws 

§445.771, et seq.  Accordingly, Michigan purchasers seek all forms of relief available under Mich. 

Comp. Laws §445.771, et seq. 

187. Minnesota: 

(a) AbbVie acted in restraint of trade or commerce by illegally monopolizing 

and attempting to monopolize the market for adalimumab in Minnesota through abuse of the patent 

process. 

(b) AbbVie’s conduct had the following effects:  Minnesota purchasers paid 

supracompetitive, artificially inflated prices for adalimumab. 

(c) During the Class Period, AbbVie’s illegal conduct substantially affected 

Minnesota commerce. 
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(d) As a direct and proximate result of AbbVie’s unlawful conduct, Minnesota 

purchasers have been injured in their business and property and are threatened with further injury. 

(e) By reason of the foregoing, AbbVie has violated Minn. Stat. §325D.57, et 

seq.  Accordingly, Minnesota purchasers seek all forms of relief available under Minn. Stat. 

§325D.57, et seq. 

188. Mississippi: 

(a) AbbVie acted in restraint of trade or commerce by illegally monopolizing 

and attempting to monopolize the market for adalimumab in Mississippi through abuse of the 

patent process. 

(b) AbbVie’s conduct had the following effects:  Mississippi purchasers paid 

supracompetitive, artificially inflated prices for adalimumab. 

(c) During the Class Period, AbbVie’s illegal conduct substantially affected 

Mississippi commerce. 

(d) As a direct and proximate result of AbbVie’s unlawful conduct, Mississippi 

purchasers have been injured in their business and property and are threatened with further injury. 

(e) By reason of the foregoing, AbbVie has violated Miss. Code Ann. §75-21-

9, et seq.  Accordingly, Mississippi purchasers seek all forms of relief available under Miss. Code 

Ann. §75-21-9, et seq. 

189. Nebraska: 

(a) AbbVie acted in restraint of trade or commerce by illegally monopolizing 

and attempting to monopolize the market for adalimumab in Nebraska through abuse of the patent 

process. 

(b) AbbVie’s conduct had the following effects:  Nebraska purchasers paid 

supracompetitive, artificially inflated prices for adalimumab. 
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(c) During the Class Period, AbbVie’s illegal conduct substantially affected 

Nebraska commerce. 

(d) As a direct and proximate result of AbbVie’s unlawful conduct, Nebraska 

purchasers have been injured in their business and property and are threatened with further injury. 

(e) By reason of the foregoing, AbbVie has violated Neb. Rev. Stat. §§59-801 

and 59-802, et seq.  Accordingly, Nebraska purchasers seek all forms of relief available under Neb. 

Rev. Stat. §§59-801 and 59-802, et seq. 

190. Nevada: 

(a) AbbVie acted in restraint of trade or commerce by illegally monopolizing 

and attempting to monopolize the market for adalimumab in Nevada through abuse of the patent 

process. 

(b) AbbVie’s conduct had the following effects:  Nevada purchasers paid 

supracompetitive, artificially inflated prices for adalimumab. 

(c) During the Class Period, AbbVie’s illegal conduct substantially affected 

Nevada commerce. 

(d) As a direct and proximate result of AbbVie’s unlawful conduct, Nevada 

purchasers have been injured in their business and property and are threatened with further injury. 

(e) By reason of the foregoing, AbbVie has violated Nev. Rev. Stat. 

§598A.210(2), et seq.  Accordingly, Nevada purchasers seek all forms of relief available under 

Nev. Rev. Stat. §598A.210(2), et seq. 

191. New Hampshire: 

(a) AbbVie acted in restraint of trade or commerce by illegally monopolizing 

and attempting to monopolize the market for adalimumab in New Hampshire through abuse of the 

patent process. 
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(b) AbbVie’s conduct had the following effects:  New Hampshire purchasers 

paid supracompetitive, artificially inflated prices for adalimumab. 

(c) During the Class Period, AbbVie’s illegal conduct substantially affected 

New Hampshire commerce. 

(d) As a direct and proximate result of AbbVie’s unlawful conduct, New 

Hampshire purchasers have been injured in their business and property and are threatened with 

further injury. 

(e) By reason of the foregoing, AbbVie has violated N.H. Rev. Stat. Ann. 

§356:11(II), et seq.  Accordingly, New Hampshire purchasers seek all forms of relief available 

under N.H. Rev. Stat. Ann. §356:11(II), et seq. 

192. New Mexico: 

(a) AbbVie acted in restraint of trade or commerce by illegally monopolizing 

and attempting to monopolize the market for adalimumab in New Mexico through abuse of the 

patent process. 

(b) AbbVie’s conduct had the following effects:  New Mexico purchasers paid 

supracompetitive, artificially inflated prices for adalimumab. 

(c) During the Class Period, AbbVie’s illegal conduct substantially affected 

New Mexico commerce. 

(d) As a direct and proximate result of AbbVie’s unlawful conduct, New 

Mexico purchasers have been injured in their business and property and are threatened with further 

injury. 

(e) By reason of the foregoing, AbbVie has violated N.M. Stat. Ann. §57-1-1, 

et seq.  Accordingly, New Mexico purchasers seek all forms of relief available under N.M. Stat. 

Ann. §57-1-1, et seq. 
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193. New York: 

(a) AbbVie acted in restraint of trade or commerce by illegally monopolizing 

and attempting to monopolize the market for adalimumab in New York through abuse of the patent 

process. 

(b) AbbVie’s conduct had the following effects:  New York purchasers paid 

supracompetitive, artificially inflated prices for adalimumab. 

(c) During the Class Period, AbbVie’s illegal conduct substantially affected 

New York commerce. 

(d) As a direct and proximate result of AbbVie’s unlawful conduct, New York 

purchasers have been injured in their business and property and are threatened with further injury. 

(e) By reason of the foregoing, AbbVie has violated N.Y. Gen. Bus. Law §340, 

et seq.  Accordingly, New York purchasers seek all forms of relief available under N.Y. Gen. Bus. 

Law §340, et seq. 

194. North Carolina: 

(a) AbbVie acted in restraint of trade or commerce by illegally monopolizing 

and attempting to monopolize the market for adalimumab in North Carolina through abuse of the 

patent process. 

(b) AbbVie’s conduct had the following effects:  North Carolina purchasers 

paid supracompetitive, artificially inflated prices for adalimumab. 

(c) During the Class Period, AbbVie’s illegal conduct substantially affected 

North Carolina commerce. 

(d) As a direct and proximate result of AbbVie’s unlawful conduct, North 

Carolina purchasers have been injured in their business and property and are threatened with 

further injury. 
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(e) By reason of the foregoing, AbbVie has violated N.C. Gen. Stat. §75-1, et 

seq.  Accordingly, North Carolina purchasers seek all forms of relief available under N.C. Gen. 

Stat. §75-16, et seq. 

195. North Dakota: 

(a) AbbVie acted in restraint of trade or commerce by illegally monopolizing 

and attempting to monopolize the market for adalimumab in North Dakota through abuse of the 

patent process. 

(b) AbbVie’s conduct had the following effects:  North Dakota purchasers paid 

supracompetitive, artificially inflated prices for adalimumab. 

(c) During the Class Period, AbbVie’s illegal conduct substantially affected 

North Dakota commerce. 

(d) As a direct and proximate result of AbbVie’s unlawful conduct, North 

Dakota purchasers have been injured in their business and property and are threatened with further 

injury. 

(e) By reason of the foregoing, AbbVie has violated N.D. Cent. Code §§51-

08.1-01-02, et seq.  Accordingly, North Dakota purchasers seek all forms of relief available N.D. 

Cent. Code §§51-08.1-01-02, et seq. 

196. Oregon: 

(a) AbbVie acted in restraint of trade or commerce by illegally monopolizing 

and attempting to monopolize the market for adalimumab in Oregon through abuse of the patent 

process. 

(b) AbbVie’s conduct had the following effects:  Oregon purchasers paid 

supracompetitive, artificially inflated prices for adalimumab. 
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(c) During the Class Period, AbbVie’s illegal conduct substantially affected 

Oregon commerce. 

(d) As a direct and proximate result of AbbVie’s unlawful conduct, Oregon 

purchasers have been injured in their business and property and are threatened with further injury. 

(e) By reason of the foregoing, AbbVie has violated Or. Rev. Stat. §646.705, 

et seq.  Accordingly, Oregon purchasers seek all forms of relief available under Or. Rev. Stat. 

§646.705, et seq. 

197. Rhode Island: 

(a) AbbVie acted in restraint of trade or commerce by illegally monopolizing 

and attempting to monopolize the market for adalimumab in Rhode Island through abuse of the 

patent process. 

(b) AbbVie’s conduct had the following effects:  Rhode Island purchasers paid 

supracompetitive, artificially inflated prices for adalimumab. 

(c) During the Class Period, AbbVie’s illegal conduct substantially affected 

Rhode Island commerce. 

(d) As a direct and proximate result of AbbVie’s unlawful conduct, Rhode 

Island purchasers have been injured in their business and property and are threatened with further 

injury. 

(e) By reason of the foregoing, AbbVie has violated R.I. Gen. Laws §6-36-4, 

et seq.  Accordingly, Rhode Island purchasers seek all forms of relief available under R.I. Gen. 

Laws §6-36-4, et seq. 

198. South Dakota: 
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(a) AbbVie acted in restraint of trade or commerce by illegally monopolizing 

and attempting to monopolize the market for adalimumab in South Dakota through abuse of the 

patent process. 

(b) AbbVie’s conduct had the following effects:  South Dakota purchasers paid 

supracompetitive, artificially inflated prices for adalimumab. 

(c) During the Class Period, AbbVie’s illegal conduct substantially affected 

South Dakota commerce. 

(d) As a direct and proximate result of AbbVie’s unlawful conduct, South 

Dakota purchasers have been injured in their business and property and are threatened with further 

injury. 

(e) By reason of the foregoing, AbbVie has violated S.D. Codified Laws §37-

1-3.1, et seq.  Accordingly, South Dakota purchasers seek all forms of relief available under S.D. 

Codified Laws §37-1-3.1, et seq. 

199. Tennessee: 

(a) AbbVie acted in restraint of trade or commerce by illegally monopolizing 

and attempting to monopolize the market for adalimumab in Tennessee through abuse of the patent 

process. 

(b) AbbVie’s conduct had the following effects:  Tennessee purchasers paid 

supracompetitive, artificially inflated prices for adalimumab. 

(c) During the Class Period, AbbVie’s illegal conduct substantially affected 

Tennessee commerce. 

(d) As a direct and proximate result of AbbVie’s unlawful conduct, Tennessee 

purchasers have been injured in their business and property and are threatened with further injury. 
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(e) By reason of the foregoing, AbbVie has violated Tenn. Code Ann. §47-25-

101, et seq.  Accordingly, Tennessee purchasers seek all forms of relief available under Tenn. 

Code Ann. §47-25-101, et seq. 

200. U.S. Virgin Islands: 

(a) AbbVie acted in restraint of trade or commerce by illegally monopolizing 

and attempting to monopolize the market for adalimumab in the U.S. Virgin Islands through abuse 

of the patent process. 

(b) AbbVie’s conduct had the following effects:  U.S. Virgin Islands purchasers 

paid supracompetitive, artificially inflated prices for adalimumab. 

(c) During the Class Period, AbbVie’s illegal conduct substantially affected 

U.S. Virgin Islands commerce. 

(d) As a direct and proximate result of AbbVie’s unlawful conduct, U.S. Virgin 

Islands purchasers have been injured in their business and property and are threatened with further 

injury. 

(e) By reason of the foregoing, AbbVie has violated V.I. Code Ann. tit. 11, 

§1507(4), et seq.  Accordingly, U.S. Virgin Islands purchasers seek all forms of relief available 

under V.I. Code Ann. tit. 11, §1507(4), et seq. 

201. Utah: 

(a) AbbVie acted in restraint of trade or commerce by illegally monopolizing 

and attempting to monopolize the market for adalimumab in Utah through abuse of the patent 

process. 

(b) AbbVie’s conduct had the following effects:  Utah purchasers paid 

supracompetitive, artificially inflated prices for adalimumab. 
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(c) During the Class Period, AbbVie’s illegal conduct substantially affected 

Utah commerce. 

(d) As a direct and proximate result of AbbVie’s unlawful conduct, Utah 

purchasers have been injured in their business and property and are threatened with further injury. 

(e) By reason of the foregoing, AbbVie has violated Utah Code Ann. §76-10-

3101, et seq.  Accordingly, Utah purchasers seek all forms of relief available under Utah Code 

Ann. §76-10-3101, et seq. 

202. West Virginia: 

(a) AbbVie acted in restraint of trade or commerce by illegally monopolizing 

and attempting to monopolize the market for adalimumab in West Virginia through abuse of the 

patent process. 

(b) AbbVie’s conduct had the following effects:  West Virginia purchasers paid 

supracompetitive, artificially inflated prices for adalimumab. 

(c) During the Class Period, AbbVie’s illegal conduct substantially affected 

West Virginia commerce. 

(d) As a direct and proximate result of AbbVie’s unlawful conduct, West 

Virginia purchasers have been injured in their business and property and are threatened with further 

injury. 

(e) By reason of the foregoing, AbbVie has violated W. Va. Code §47-18-20, 

et seq.  Accordingly, West Virginia purchasers seek all forms of relief available under W. Va. 

Code §47-18-20, et seq. 

203. Wisconsin: 
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(a) AbbVie acted in restraint of trade or commerce by illegally monopolizing 

and attempting to monopolize the market for adalimumab in Wisconsin through abuse of the patent 

process. 

(b) AbbVie’s conduct had the following effects:  Wisconsin purchasers paid 

supracompetitive, artificially inflated prices for adalimumab. 

(c) During the Class Period, AbbVie’s illegal conduct substantially affected 

Wisconsin commerce. 

(d) As a direct and proximate result of AbbVie’s unlawful conduct, Wisconsin 

purchasers have been injured in their business and property and are threatened with further injury. 

(e) By reason of the foregoing, AbbVie has violated Wis. Stat. §133.03(1), et 

seq.  Accordingly, Wisconsin purchasers seek all forms of relief available under Wis. Stat. Ann. 

§133.03(1), et seq. 

COUNT VI 

Violation of State Consumer Protection Statutes 

(On Behalf of the State Damages Class Against All Defendants) 

204. Plaintiff repeats and realleges each of the foregoing paragraphs of this complaint 

and incorporates them by reference as though set forth in full herein. 

205. Defendants engaged in unfair competition and/or unfair/unconscionable and/or 

deceptive acts or practices in violation of the state consumer protection statutes listed below.  As 

a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ anticompetitive, deceptive, unfair and/or 

unconscionable acts or practices plaintiff and members of the State Damages Class paid higher 

prices for adalimumab. 

206. Arkansas: 

(a) The aforementioned practices by Defendants were and are in violation of 

the Arkansas Deceptive Trade Practices Act, Ark. Code Ann. §4-88-101, et seq. 

Case: 1:19-cv-02674 Document #: 1 Filed: 04/19/19 Page 86 of 109 PageID #:86



 

- 86 - 

(b) Defendants’ anticompetitive conduct occurred in the adalimumab market, a 

substantial part of which occurred within Arkansas. 

(c) Defendants acted in restraint of trade or commerce in the Relevant Product 

Market, a substantial part of which occurred within Arkansas, for the purpose of excluding 

competition or controlling, fixing or maintaining prices in the adalimumab market. 

(d) Defendants’ conduct was unfair, unconscionable or deceptive within the 

conduct of commerce within the State of Arkansas. 

(e) Defendants’ conduct misled consumers, withheld material facts and 

resulted in material misrepresentations to Arkansas members of the State Damages Class. 

(f) Defendants’ unlawful conduct substantially affected Arkansas’s trade and 

commerce. 

(g) Defendants’ conduct was willful. 

(h) As a direct and proximate cause of Defendants’ unlawful conduct, the 

Arkansas members of the State Damages Class have been injured in their business or property and 

are threatened with further injury. 

(i) By reason of the foregoing, Arkansas members of the State Damages Class 

are entitled to seek all forms of relief, including actual damages plus reasonable attorneys’ fees 

under Ark. Code Ann. §4-88-113. 

207. California: 

(a) The violations of federal antitrust law set forth above also constitute 

violations of Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code §17200, et seq. (“UCL”). 

(b) Defendants have engaged in unfair competition or unfair, unconscionable, 

deceptive or fraudulent acts or practices in violation of the UCL by engaging in the acts and 

practices specified above. 
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(c) This claim is instituted pursuant to Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code §§17203 and 

17204 to obtain restitution from these Defendants for acts, as alleged herein, that violated the UCL. 

(d) The Defendants’ conduct as alleged herein violated the UCL.  The acts, 

omissions, misrepresentations, practices and non-disclosures of Defendants, as alleged herein, 

constituted a common, continuous and continuing course of conduct of unfair competition by 

means of unfair, unlawful and/or fraudulent business acts or practices within the meaning of the 

UCL, including, but not limited to, the following: (1) the violations of §§1 and 2 of the Sherman 

Act, as set forth above; and (2) the violations of Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code §16720, et seq., set forth 

above. 

(e) Defendants’ acts, omissions, misrepresentations, practices and non-

disclosures, as described above, whether or not in violation of Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code §16720, et 

seq., and whether or not concerted or independent acts, are otherwise unfair, unconscionable, 

unlawful or fraudulent. 

(f) California members of the State Damages Class are entitled to full 

restitution and/or disgorgement of all revenues, earnings, profits, compensation and benefits that 

may have been obtained by Defendants as a result of such business acts or practices. 

(g) The illegal conduct alleged herein is continuing and there is no indication 

that Defendants will not continue such activity into the future. 

(h) The unlawful and unfair business practices of Defendants, and each of them, 

as described above, has caused and continues to cause California members of the State Damages 

Class to pay supracompetitive and artificially inflated prices for adalimumab sold in California.  

California members of the State Damages Class suffered injury in fact and lost money or property 

as a result of such unfair competition. 
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(i) The conduct of Defendants as alleged herein violates Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code 

§17200, et seq. 

(j) As alleged in this complaint, Defendants have been unjustly enriched as a 

result of their wrongful conduct and by Defendants’ unfair competition.  California members of 

the State Damages Class are accordingly entitled to equitable relief, including restitution and/or 

disgorgement of all revenues, earnings, profits, compensation and benefits that may have been 

obtained by Defendants as a result of such business practices, pursuant to the Cal. Bus. & Prof. 

Code, §§17203 and 17204. 

208. District of Columbia: 

(a) Defendants have engaged in unfair competition or unfair, unconscionable, 

or deceptive acts or practices in violation of D.C. Code §28-3901, et seq. 

(b) Defendants agreed to, and did in fact, act in restraint of trade or commerce 

by affecting, fixing, controlling and/or maintaining, at artificial and/or non-competitive levels, the 

prices at which adalimumab was sold, distributed or obtained in the District of Columbia. 

(c) During the Class Period, Defendants’ illegal conduct substantially affected 

District of Columbia commerce and consumers.  The foregoing conduct constitutes “unlawful 

trade practices,” within the meaning of D.C. Code §28-3904. 

(d) District of Columbia members of the State Damages Class were not aware 

of Defendants’ conduct and were therefore unaware that they were being unfairly and illegally 

overcharged. 

(e) Defendants had the sole power to set that price and District of Columbia 

members of the State Damages Class had no power to negotiate a lower price.  Moreover, District 

of Columbia members of the State Damages Class lacked any meaningful choice in purchasing 

adalimumab because they were unaware of the unlawful overcharge, and there was no alternative 
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source of supply through which District of Columbia members of the State Damages Class could 

avoid the overcharges. 

(f) Defendants’ conduct with regard to sales of adalimumab which caused 

prices of adalimumab to be at supracompetitive levels and overcharged consumers, was 

substantively unconscionable because it was one-sided and unfairly benefited Defendants at the 

expense of plaintiff and the public.  Defendants took grossly unfair advantage of District of 

Columbia members of the State Damages Class. 

(g) The suppression of competition that has resulted from Defendants’ 

monopolization has ultimately resulted in unconscionably higher prices for purchasers so that there 

was a gross disparity between the price paid and the value received for adalimumab. 

(h) Defendants’ unlawful conduct had the following effects: (1) adalimumab 

price competition was restrained, suppressed and eliminated throughout the District of Columbia; 

(2) adalimumab prices were raised, fixed, maintained and stabilized at artificially high levels 

throughout the District of Columbia; (3) plaintiff and members of the State Damages Class were 

deprived of free and open competition; and (4) District of Columbia members of the State Damages 

Class paid supracompetitive, artificially inflated prices for adalimumab. 

(i) As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ conduct, District of 

Columbia members of the State Damages Class have been injured and are threatened with further 

injury. 

(j) Defendants have engaged in unfair competition or unfair or deceptive acts 

or practices in violation of D.C. Code §28-3901, et seq., and, accordingly, District of Columbia 

members of the State Damages Class seek all relief available under that statute. 

209. Florida: 
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(a) The aforementioned practices by Defendants were and are in violation of 

the Florida Deceptive and Unfair Trade Practices Act (“FDUTPA”), Fla. Stat. §501.201, et seq. 

(b) The FDUTPA defines “[c]onsumer” as “an individual; child, by and 

through its parent or legal guardian; business; firm; association; joint venture; partnership; estate; 

trust; business trust; syndicate; fiduciary; corporation; . . . or any other group or combination.”  

Florida members of the State Damages Class are “[c]onsumers” within the meaning of Fla. Stat. 

§501.203(7). 

(c) The FDUTPA defines “[t]rade or commerce” as: 

[T]he advertising, soliciting, providing, offering, or distributing, whether by sale, 
rental, or otherwise, of any good or service, or any property, whether tangible or 
intangible, or any other article, commodity, or thing of value, wherever situated.  
“Trade or commerce” shall include the conduct of any trade or commerce, however 
denominated, including any nonprofit or not-for-profit person or activity. 

Fla. Stat. §501.203(8).  The advertising, soliciting, offering, selling and furnishing of adalimumab 

by Defendants to Florida the members of the State Damages Class is “[t]rade or commerce” within 

the meaning of the FDUTPA.  Fla. Stat. §501.203(8). 

(d) The FDUTPA provides that “[u]nfair methods of competition, 

unconscionable acts or practices, and unfair or deceptive acts or practices in the conduct of any 

trade or commerce are hereby declared unlawful.”  Fla. Stat. §501.204(1).  Defendants’ acts as 

alleged in this complaint are unconscionable, illegal, unfair and/or deceptive. 

(e) The unconscionable, illegal, unfair and deceptive acts and practices of 

Defendants are violative of the provisions of FDUTPA.  Florida members of the State Damages 

Class have suffered actual damage for which they are entitled to relief pursuant to Fla. Stat. 

§501.211(2). 
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(f) Florida members of the State Damage Class, individually and in their 

representative capacities, are entitled to recover reasonable attorneys’ fees pursuant to Fla. Stat. 

§501.2105, upon prevailing in this matter. 

210. Hawaii: 

(a) Defendants agreed to, and did in fact, act in restraint of trade or commerce 

by affecting, fixing, controlling and/or maintaining, at artificial and/or non-competitive levels, the 

prices at which adalimumab was sold in Hawaii. 

(b) The foregoing conduct constitutes “unfair methods of competition and 

unfair or deceptive acts or practices in the conduct of any trade or commerce” within the meaning 

of Haw. Rev. Stat. §480-2(a).  During the Class Period, Defendants’ illegal conduct substantially 

affected Hawaii commerce and consumers. 

(c) Defendants’ unlawful conduct had the following effects: (1) adalimumab 

price competition was restrained, suppressed and eliminated throughout Hawaii; (2) adalimumab 

prices were raised, fixed, maintained and stabilized at artificially high levels throughout Hawaii; 

(3) Hawaii members of the State Damages Class were deprived of free and open competition; and 

(4) Hawaii members of the State Damages Class paid supracompetitive, artificially inflated prices 

for adalimumab. 

(d) As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ conduct, Hawaii members 

of the State Damages Class have been injured and are threatened with further injury. 

(e) Defendants have engaged in unfair competition or unfair or deceptive acts 

or practices in violation of Haw. Rev. Stat. §480-2.  Accordingly, Hawaii members of the State 

Damages Class seek all relief available under Haw. Rev. Stat. §480-1, et seq. 

211. Montana: 
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(a) Defendants have engaged in unfair competition or unfair, unconscionable, 

or deceptive acts or practices in violation of the Montana Unfair Trade Practices and Consumer 

Protection Act of 1970, Mont. Code Ann. §30-14-103, et seq. and §30-14-201, et seq. 

(b) Defendants’ unlawful conduct had the following effects: (1) adalimumab 

price competition was restrained, suppressed and eliminated throughout Montana; (2) adalimumab 

prices were raised, fixed, maintained and stabilized at artificially high levels throughout Montana; 

(3) Montana members of the State Damages Class were deprived of free and open competition; 

and (4) Montana members of the State Damages Class paid supracompetitive, artificially inflated 

prices for adalimumab. 

(c) During the Class Period, Defendants marketed, sold or distributed 

adalimumab in Montana, and Defendants’ illegal conduct substantially affected Montana 

commerce and consumers.  As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ unlawful conduct, 

Montana members of the State Damages Class have been injured and are threatened with further 

injury.  Defendants have engaged in unfair competition or unfair or deceptive acts or practices in 

violation of Mont. Code Ann., §30-14-103, et seq. and §30-14-201, et seq., and accordingly, 

Montana members of the State Damages Class seek all relief available under that statute. 

212. Nebraska: 

(a) Defendants agreed to, and did in fact, act in restraint of trade or commerce 

in Nevada by affecting, fixing, controlling and/or maintaining, at artificial and/or non-competitive 

levels, the prices at which adalimumab was sold, distributed or obtained in Nebraska. 

(b) The foregoing conduct constitutes “[u]nfair methods of competition and 

unfair or deceptive acts or practices in the conduct of any trade or commerce” within the meaning 

of Neb. Rev. Stat. §59-1602. 
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(c) During the Class Period, Defendants’ illegal conduct substantially affected 

Nebraska’s commerce and consumers. 

(d) Defendants’ unlawful conduct had the following effects: (1) adalimumab 

price competition was restrained, suppressed and eliminated throughout Nebraska; (2) price 

competition for adalimumab was restrained, suppressed and eliminated throughout Nebraska; (3) 

adalimumab prices were raised, fixed, maintained and stabilized at artificially high levels 

throughout Nebraska; (4) Nebraska members of the State Damages Class were deprived of free 

and open competition; and (5) Nebraska members of the State Damages Class paid 

supracompetitive, artificially inflated prices for adalimumab. 

(e) As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ conduct, Nebraska 

members of the State Damages Class have been injured and are threatened with further injury. 

(f) Defendants have engaged in unfair competition or unfair or deceptive acts 

or practices in violation of Neb. Rev. Stat. §59-1601, et seq., and accordingly, Nebraska members 

of the State Damages Class seek all relief available under that statute. 

213. Nevada: 

(a) Defendants have engaged in unfair competition or unfair, unconscionable 

or deceptive acts or practices in violation of the Nevada Deceptive Trade Practices Act, Nev. Rev. 

Stat. §598.0903, et seq.  Defendants agreed to, and did in fact, act in restraint of trade or commerce 

in Nevada, by affecting, fixing, controlling and/or maintaining, at artificial and noncompetitive 

levels, the prices at which adalimumab was sold, distributed or obtained in Nevada. 

(b) Defendants deliberately failed to disclose material facts to Nevada members 

of the State Damages Class concerning Defendants’ unlawful activities and artificially inflated 

prices for adalimumab. 
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(c) Defendants misrepresented to all purchasers during the Class Period that 

Defendants’ adalimumab prices were competitive and fair. 

(d) Defendants’ unlawful conduct had the following effects: (1) adalimumab 

price competition was restrained, suppressed and eliminated throughout Nevada; (2) adalimumab 

prices were raised, fixed, maintained and stabilized at artificially high levels throughout Nevada; 

(3) Nevada members of the State Damages Class were deprived of free and open competition; and 

(4) Nevada members of the State Damages Class paid supracompetitive, artificially inflated prices 

for adalimumab. 

(e) During the Class Period, Defendants’ illegal conduct had a substantial effect 

on Nevada commerce and consumers.  As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ violations 

of law, Nevada members of the State Damages Class suffered an ascertainable loss of money or 

property as a result of Defendants’ use or employment of unconscionable and deceptive 

commercial practices as set forth above.  That loss was caused by Defendants’ willful and 

deceptive conduct, as described herein. 

(f) Defendants’ deception, including their affirmative misrepresentations and 

omissions concerning the price of adalimumab, likely misled all purchasers acting reasonably 

under the circumstances to believe that they were purchasing adalimumab at prices set by a free 

and fair market.  Defendants’ misleading conduct and unconscionable activities constitute 

violations of Nev. Rev. Stat. §598.0903, et seq. 

(g) Nevada members of the State Damages Class seek all relief available under 

that statute. 

214. New Hampshire: 
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(a) Defendants have engaged in unfair competition or unfair, unconscionable 

or deceptive acts or practices in violation of the New Hampshire Consumer Protection Act, N.H. 

Rev. Stat. Ann. §358-A:1, et seq. 

(b) Defendants’ unlawful conduct had the following effects: (1) adalimumab 

price competition was restrained, suppressed and eliminated throughout New Hampshire; (2) 

adalimumab prices were raised, fixed, maintained and stabilized at artificially high levels 

throughout New Hampshire; (3) New Hampshire members of the State Damages Class were 

deprived of free and open competition; and (4) New Hampshire members of the State Damages 

Class paid supracompetitive, artificially inflated prices for adalimumab. 

(c) During the Class Period, AbbVie marketed, sold or distributed adalimumab 

in New Hampshire, and Defendants’ illegal conduct substantially affected New Hampshire 

commerce and consumers. 

(d) As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ unlawful conduct, New 

Hampshire members of the State Damages Class have been injured. 

(e) Defendants have engaged in unfair competition or unfair or deceptive acts 

or practices in violation of N.H. Rev. Stat. Ann. §358-A:1, et seq., and accordingly, New 

Hampshire members of the State Damages Class seek all relief available under that statute. 

215. New Mexico: 

(a) Defendants agreed to, and did in fact, act in restraint of trade or commerce 

by affecting, fixing, controlling and/or maintaining, at artificial and/or non-competitive levels, the 

prices at which adalimumab was sold in New Mexico. 

(b) The foregoing conduct constitutes “[u]nfair or deceptive trade practices and 

unconscionable trade practices in the conduct of any trade or commerce” within the meaning of 

N.M. Stat. Ann. §57-12-3, in that such conduct resulted in a gross disparity between the value 
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received by New Mexico purchasers and the prices paid by them for adalimumab as set forth in 

N.M. Stat. Ann. §57-12-2E. 

(c) During the Class Period, Defendants’ illegal conduct substantially affected 

New Mexico’s commerce and consumers. 

(d) Defendants’ unlawful conduct had the following effects: (1) price 

competition for adalimumab was restrained, suppressed and eliminated throughout New Mexico; 

(2) adalimumab prices were raised, fixed, maintained and stabilized at artificially high levels 

throughout New Mexico; (3) New Mexico members of the State Damages Class were deprived of 

free and open competition; and (4) New Mexico members of the State Damages Class paid 

supracompetitive, artificially inflated prices for adalimumab. 

(e) As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ conduct, New Mexico 

members of the State Damages Class have been injured and are threatened with further injury. 

(f) Defendants have engaged in unfair competition or unfair or deceptive acts 

or practices in violation of N.M. Stat. Ann. §57-12-1, et seq., and accordingly New Mexico 

members of the State Damages Class seek all relief available under that statute. 

216. New York: 

(a) Defendants agreed to, and did in fact, act in restraint of trade or commerce 

by affecting, fixing, controlling and/or maintaining, at artificial and/or non-competitive levels, the 

prices at which adalimumab was sold in New York. 

(b) Defendants’ illegal conduct substantially affected New York’s commerce 

and consumers. 

(c) The conduct of Defendants as described herein constitutes consumer-

oriented deceptive acts or practices within the meaning of N.Y. Gen. Bus. Law §349, which 

resulted in consumer injury and had a broad adverse impact on the public at large, and harmed the 
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public interest of the State of New York in an honest marketplace in which economic activity is 

conducted in a competitive manner. 

(d) As consumers, New York purchasers were targets of the conspiracy. 

(e) Defendants made public statements about the price of adalimumab that 

Defendants knew would be seen by New York purchasers.  Such statements either omitted material 

information that rendered the statements made materially misleading or affirmatively 

misrepresented the real cause of price increases for adalimumab.  Defendants alone possessed 

material information that was relevant to consumers, but failed to provide that information. 

(f) Because of Defendants’ unlawful trade practices in the State of New York, 

there was a broad impact on New York purchasers who indirectly purchased adalimumab.  New 

York purchasers have been injured because they have paid more for adalimumab than they would 

have paid in the absence of Defendants’ unlawful trade acts and practices and they are threatened 

with further injury. 

(g) Because of Defendants’ unlawful trade practices in the State of New York, 

New York purchasers who indirectly purchased adalimumab were misled into believing that they 

were paying a fair price for adalimumab, or that the price increases for adalimumab were for valid 

business reasons. 

(h) Defendants knew that their unlawful trade practices with respect to the 

pricing of adalimumab would have an impact on New York purchasers and not just Defendants’ 

direct customers. 

(i) Defendants knew that their unlawful trade practices with respect to the 

pricing of adalimumab would have a broad impact, causing members of the State Damages Class 

who indirectly purchased adalimumab to be injured by paying more for adalimumab than they 

would have paid in the absence of Defendants’ unlawful trade acts and practices. 
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(j) During the Class Period, each of the Defendants named herein, directly or 

indirectly through affiliates they dominated and controlled, manufactured, sold and/or distributed 

adalimumab in New York. 

(k) New York members of the State Damages Class seek actual damages for 

their injuries caused by these violations in an amount to be determined at trial. 

217. North Carolina: 

(a) Defendants agreed to, and did in fact, act in restraint of trade or commerce 

by affecting, fixing, controlling and/or maintaining, at artificial and/or non-competitive levels, the 

prices at which adalimumab was sold in North Carolina. 

(b) Defendants also took efforts to conceal their conspiratorial agreements from 

North Carolina purchasers. 

(c) The conduct of Defendants as described herein constitutes consumer-

oriented deceptive acts or practices within the meaning of N.C. Gen. Stat. §75-1.1, et seq., which 

resulted in consumer injury and had a broad adverse impact on the public at large and harmed the 

public interest of North Carolina consumers in an honest marketplace in which economic activity 

is conducted in a competitive manner. 

(d) During the Class Period, Defendants’ illegal conduct substantially affected 

North Carolina’s commerce and consumers. 

(e) Defendants’ unlawful conduct had the following effects:  (1) adalimumab 

price competition was restrained, suppressed and eliminated throughout North Carolina; 

(2) adalimumab prices were raised, fixed, maintained and stabilized at artificially high levels 

throughout North Carolina; (3) North Carolina purchasers were deprived of free and open 

competition; and (4) North Carolina purchasers paid supracompetitive, artificially inflated prices 

for adalimumab 
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(f) As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ conduct, North Carolina 

purchasers have been injured and are threatened with further injury. 

(g) During the Class Period, each of the Defendants named herein, directly or 

indirectly through affiliates they dominated and controlled, manufactured, sold and/or distributed 

adalimumab in North Carolina. 

(h) Defendants have engaged in unfair competition or unfair or deceptive acts 

or practices in violation of N.C. Gen. Stat. §75-1.1, et seq., and accordingly, North Carolina 

purchasers seek all relief available under that statute. 

218. Rhode Island: 

(a) Defendants have engaged in unfair competition or unfair, unconscionable 

or deceptive acts or practices in violation of the Rhode Island Unfair Trade Practice and Consumer 

Protection Act, R.I. Gen. Laws §6-13.1, et seq. 

(b) Members of the State Damages Class purchased adalimumab for personal, 

family or household purposes. 

(c) Defendants agreed to, and did in fact, act in restraint of trade or commerce 

in a market that includes Rhode Island, by affecting, fixing, controlling and/or maintaining, at 

artificial and non-competitive levels, the prices at which adalimumab was sold, distributed or 

obtained in Rhode Island. 

(d) Defendants deliberately failed to disclose material facts to Rhode Island 

members of the State Damages Class concerning Defendants’ unlawful activities and artificially 

inflated prices for adalimumab. 

(e) Defendants owed a duty to disclose such facts, and considering the relative 

lack of sophistication of the average, non-business purchaser, Defendants breached that duty by 

their silence. 
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(f) Defendants misrepresented to all purchasers during the Class Period that 

Defendants’ adalimumab prices were competitive and fair.  Defendants’ unlawful conduct had the 

following effects: (1) adalimumab price competition was restrained, suppressed and eliminated 

throughout Rhode Island; (2) adalimumab prices were raised, fixed, maintained and stabilized at 

artificially high levels throughout Rhode Island; (3) Rhode Island members of the State Damages 

Class were deprived of free and open competition; and (4) Rhode Island members of the State 

Damages Class paid supracompetitive, artificially inflated prices for adalimumab. 

(g) Defendants’ illegal conduct substantially affected Rhode Island commerce 

and consumers. 

(h) As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ violations of law, Rhode 

Island members of the State Damages Class suffered an ascertainable loss of money or property 

as a result of Defendants’ use or employment of unconscionable and deceptive commercial 

practices as set forth above.  That loss was caused by Defendants’ willful and deceptive conduct, 

as described herein. Defendants’ deception, including their affirmative misrepresentations and 

omissions concerning the price of adalimumab, likely misled all purchasers acting reasonably 

under the circumstances to believe that they were purchasing adalimumab at prices set by a free 

and fair market.  Defendants’ affirmative misrepresentations and omissions constitute information 

important to Rhode Island members of the State Damages Class as they related to the cost of 

adalimumab they purchased. 

(i) Defendants have engaged in unfair competition or unfair or deceptive acts 

or practices in violation of R.I. Gen. Laws §6-13.1-1, et seq., and accordingly, Rhode Island 

members of the State Damages Class seek all relief available under that statute. 

219. Utah: 
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(a) Defendants have engaged in unfair competition or unfair, unconscionable 

or deceptive acts or practices in violation of the Utah Consumer Sales Practices Act, Utah Code 

Ann. §13-11-1, et seq. 

(b) Members of the State Damages Class purchased adalimumab for personal, 

family or household purposes. 

(c) Defendants agreed to, and did in fact, act in restraint of trade or commerce 

in a market that includes Utah, by affecting, fixing, controlling and/or maintaining, at artificial and 

non-competitive levels, the prices at which adalimumab was sold, distributed or obtained in Utah. 

(d) Defendants deliberately failed to disclose material facts to Utah members 

of the State Damages Class concerning Defendants’ unlawful activities and artificially inflated 

prices for adalimumab. 

(e) Defendants owed a duty to disclose such facts, and considering the relative 

lack of sophistication of the average, non-business purchaser, Defendants breached that duty by 

their silence.  Defendants misrepresented to all purchasers during the Class Period that Defendants’ 

adalimumab prices were competitive and fair.  Defendants’ unlawful conduct had the following 

effects: (1) adalimumab price competition was restrained, suppressed and eliminated throughout 

Utah; (2) adalimumab prices were raised, fixed, maintained and stabilized at artificially high levels 

throughout Utah; (3) Utah members of the State Damages Class were deprived of free and open 

competition; and (4) Utah members of the State Damages Class paid supracompetitive, artificially 

inflated prices for adalimumab.  Defendants’ illegal conduct substantially affected Utah commerce 

and consumers. 

(f) As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ violations of law, Utah 

members of the State Damages Class suffered an ascertainable loss of money or property as a 

result of Defendants’ use or employment of unconscionable and deceptive commercial practices 
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as set forth above and are threatened with further injury.  That loss was caused by Defendants’ 

willful and deceptive conduct, as described herein.  Defendants’ deception, including their 

affirmative misrepresentations and omissions concerning the price of adalimumab, likely misled 

all purchasers acting reasonably under the circumstances to believe that they were purchasing 

adalimumab at prices set by a free and fair market. 

(g) Defendants’ affirmative misrepresentations and omissions constitute 

information important to Utah members of the State Damages Class as they related to the cost of 

adalimumab they purchased.  Defendants have engaged in unfair competition or unfair or 

deceptive acts or practices in violation of Utah Code Ann. §13-11-1, et seq., and accordingly, Utah 

members of the State Damages Class seek all relief available under that statute and as equity 

demands. 

220. Vermont: 

(a) Defendants agreed to, and did in fact, act in restraint of trade or commerce 

by affecting, fixing, controlling and/or maintaining, at artificial and/or non-competitive levels, the 

prices at which adalimumab was sold in Vermont. 

(b) Defendants deliberately failed to disclose material facts to Vermont 

purchasers concerning Defendants’ unlawful activities and artificially inflated prices for 

adalimumab.  Defendants owed a duty to disclose such facts, and considering the relative lack of 

sophistication of the average, non-business consumer, Defendants breached that duty by their 

silence.  Defendants misrepresented to all consumers during the Class Period that prices for 

Defendants’ adalimumab were competitive and fair. 

(c) Because of Defendants’ unlawful and unscrupulous trade practices in 

Vermont, Vermont purchasers who indirectly purchased adalimumab were misled or deceived into 
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believing that they were paying a fair price for adalimumab or that the price increases for 

adalimumab were for valid business reasons. 

(d) Defendants’ unlawful conduct had the following effects: (1) price 

competition for adalimumab was restrained, suppressed and eliminated throughout Vermont; (2) 

adalimumab prices were raised, fixed, maintained and stabilized at artificially high levels 

throughout Vermont; (3) Vermont purchasers were deprived of free and open competition; and (4) 

Vermont purchasers paid supracompetitive, artificially inflated prices for adalimumab. 

(e) As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ illegal conduct, Vermont 

purchasers suffered an ascertainable loss of money or property as a result of Defendants’ use or 

employment of unconscionable and deceptive commercial practices as set forth above.  That loss 

was caused by Defendants’ willful and deceptive conduct, as described herein. 

(f) Defendants’ misleading conduct and unconscionable activities constitute 

unfair competition or unfair or deceptive acts or practices in violation of Vt. Stat. Ann. tit. 9, ch. 

63 §2451, et seq., and accordingly, Vermont purchasers seek all relief available under that statute. 

221. West Virginia: 

(a) Defendants have engaged in unfair competition or unfair, unconscionable 

or deceptive acts or practices in violation of the West Virginia Consumer Credit and Protection 

Act, W.Va. Code §46A-6-101, et seq. 

(b) Defendants agreed to, and did in fact, act in restraint of trade or commerce 

in a market that includes West Virginia, by affecting, fixing, controlling and/or maintaining, at 

artificial and non-competitive levels, the prices at which adalimumab was sold, distributed or 

obtained in West Virginia. 
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(c) Defendants deliberately failed to disclose material facts to West Virginia 

members of the State Damages Class concerning Defendants’ unlawful activities and artificially 

inflated prices for adalimumab. 

(d) Defendants affirmatively misrepresented to all purchasers during the Class 

Period that Defendants’ adalimumab prices were competitive and fair. 

(e) Defendants’ unlawful conduct had the following effects: (1) adalimumab 

price competition was restrained, suppressed and eliminated throughout West Virginia; (2) 

adalimumab prices were raised, fixed, maintained and stabilized at artificially high levels 

throughout West Virginia; (3) West Virginia members of the State Damages Class were deprived 

of free and open competition; and (4) West Virginia members of the State Damages Class paid 

supracompetitive, artificially inflated prices for adalimumab. 

(f) Defendants’ illegal conduct substantially affected West Virginia commerce 

and consumers. 

(g) As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ violations of law, West 

Virginia members of the State Damages Class suffered an ascertainable loss of money or property 

as a result of Defendants’ use or employment of unconscionable and deceptive commercial 

practices as set forth above.  That loss was caused by Defendants’ willful and deceptive conduct, 

as described herein.  Defendants’ deception, including their affirmative misrepresentations and 

omissions concerning the price of adalimumab, likely misled all purchasers acting reasonably 

under the circumstances to believe that they were purchasing adalimumab at prices set by a free 

and fair market. 

(h) Defendants’ affirmative misrepresentations and omissions constitute 

information important to West Virginia members of the State Damages Class as they related to the 

cost of adalimumab they purchased. 
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(i) Defendants have engaged in unfair competition or unfair or deceptive acts 

or practices in violation of W.Va. Code §46A-6-101, et seq., and accordingly, West Virginia 

members of the State Damages Class seek all relief available under that statute. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, plaintiff requests that the Court enter judgment on plaintiff’s behalf and 

on behalf of the Classes herein, adjudging and decreeing that: 

A. This action may be maintained as a class action under Rule 23(a), (b)(2) and (b)(3) 

of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, and reasonable notice of this action, as provided by Rule 

23(c)(2) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, be given to each and every member of the Classes. 

B. The unlawful conduct alleged herein be adjudged and decreed: 

(i) An unreasonable restraint of trade or commerce in violation of §§1 

and 2 of the Sherman Act and §3 of the Clayton Act; 

(ii) Violation of the state antitrust and unfair competition and consumer 

protection laws as set forth herein; 

(iii) Unlawful violation of state antitrust and unfair competition and 

consumer protection laws based on Defendants’ wrongdoing in relation to the patent process 

(Walker process fraud); and 

(iv) Unlawful attempted monopoly maintenance in violation of the state 

antitrust and unfair competition and consumer protection laws as set forth herein. 

C. Plaintiff and the members of the Classes recover damages, to the maximum extent 

allowed under such laws, and that a judgment in favor of plaintiff and the members of the Classes 

be entered against the Defendants in an amount to be trebled to the extent such laws permit. 
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D. Plaintiff and the members of the Classes recover damages, to the maximum extent 

allowed by such laws, in the form of restitution and/or disgorgement of profits unlawfully gained 

from them. 

E. Defendants, their affiliates, successors, transferees, assignees and other officers, 

directors, partners, agents and employees thereof, and all other persons acting or claiming to act 

on their behalf or in concert with them, be permanently enjoined and restrained from, in any 

manner, continuing, maintaining or renewing the conduct alleged herein, or from entering into any 

other contract or engaging in any other conduct having a similar purpose or effect, and from 

adopting or following any practice, plan, program or device having a similar purpose or effect. 

F. Plaintiff and the members of the Classes be awarded restitution, including 

disgorgement of profits Defendants obtained as a result of their acts of unfair competition and acts 

of unjust enrichment. 

G. Plaintiff and the members of the Classes be awarded pre- and post- judgment 

interest as provided by law, and that such interest be awarded at the highest legal rate from and 

after the date of service of this complaint. 

H. Plaintiff and the members of the Classes recover their costs of suit, including 

reasonable attorneys’ fees, as provided by law. 

I. Plaintiff and members of the Classes have such other and further relief as the case 

may require and the Court may deem just and proper. 
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JURY DEMAND 

Plaintiff demands a trial by jury, pursuant to Rule 38(b) of the Federal Rules of Civil 

Procedure, of all issues so triable. 

DATED:  April 19, 2019 MEYERS & FLOWERS 
PETER J. FLOWERS (IL Bar # 6210847) 

 

/s/Peter J. Flowers 

 PETER J. FLOWERS 
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St. Charles, IL 60174 
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